

A Journal of Policy Ideas from Across the Roosevelt Network



Roosevet Network Staff

KATIE KIRCHNER, NATIONAL DIRECTOR

NICOLE ANNUNZIATA ANNA N. SMITH FERNANDA BORGES NOGUEIRA JADE WILENCHIK EAMON ROSS

Student Leadership Policy Coordinators

OLIVIA BRADY SNIPTA MALLICK ARIELLA MELTZER DOMINICK PERAINO AUSTIN SHIRLEY WITTER SWANSON ANGELA TSAO

Roosevelt Institute Staff

KENDRA BOZARTH
MATT HUGHES
SUZANNE KAHN
JULIETTE KANG STABLESKI
KRISTINA KARLSSON

TAYRA LUCERO KATY MILANI TIARA PEELE VICTORIA STREKER

JOEL LUGONES

Roosevelt Network Alumni

ZACHARY AGUSH CHISOLM ALLENLUNDY **EMILY APPLE DON BLACK** SAUMYA BOLLAM **JARRED BOWMAN** STEPHANIE BRANOVAN **ASHLEY CHAPPO OLIVIA COHN** CHRISTINA COVER **NNEKA EWULONU GRANT FEROWICH COLLEEN FONSECA JOHN FORD AMY FRIEDER** WILL GABELMAN MIGUEL GALAZ MEHAK GUPTA **KEVIN HILKE JAY HOBBS COURTNEY JOLINE BRIGID KENNEDY ZACH KOMES AMY LITTLETON** HANNAH LOVE

CASEY LUKSZO KIMBERLY MANRIQUEZ TARA MARLOWE SUNDUS MUJAHID SABA MUNDLAY VALERIE NAUMAN **ALYSSA NUNEZ AUSTIN PERELKA KEVIN POWERS CARLEY PRZYSTAC** AMREEN RAHMAN LILY ROBERTS **DOMINIC RUSSEL** SHAUNA RUST CARA SCHIAVONE JONATHAN SHERMAN **GARRETT SHOR ANDREW SMALLEY MANON STEEL** MICHELLE TAFUR MICHAEL TRACHT MATT WALSH **PEGAH ZARDOOST**

Who We Are

The Roosevelt Network trains, develops, and supports emerging progressive policymakers, researchers, and advocates, focusing on communities historically denied political power. With locations on campuses and in cities in nearly 40 US states, the network is founded on the principle that changing who writes the rules can help fulfill the promise of American democracy and build true public power. The network supports student-led, scalable policy campaigns that fight for the equitable provision, distribution, and accessibility of public goods at the campus, local, and state levels. In addition to its student-led activities, the organization leverages the power of its alumni network—which includes public officials, lawyers, teachers, nonprofit executives, and researchers—to expand opportunities for the next generation of policy leaders. A program of the Roosevelt Institute, the network operates alongside leading economists and political scientists to bring the ideals of Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt into the 21st century.

What You're Holding

Now in its 12th edition, the Roosevelt Network's 10 Ideas journal is a testament to the importance of changing who writes the rules. While this journal isn't a policy agenda of our network, it does highlight the issue areas most important to our students: education, the economy, human rights, and climate. The 10 student-developed policy proposals in this journal are visionary but also scalable. They chart bold new ways to deploy public power for the public good, spanning issue areas and geographies. Each proposal is the product of at least six months of work; as such, they were drafted and largely finalized before the global coronavirus pandemic and subsequent economic collapse, and before the recent Black Lives Matter protests and movement to defund the police. Authors went through a process of identifying a problem, conducting formal research, and organizing and collaborating with local organizations and partners, plus an intensive editing and review period that includes feedback from Roosevelt staff and alumni.

How You Can Participate

To learn more about our work and how to get involved, follow us on Twitter and Instagram at @RooseveltNTWRK and visit our website www.rooseveltinstitute.org. Together, we can change who writes the rules and help fulfill the ideals of American democracy, revive our economy, and build true public power. Thank you for reading and supporting the work of Roosevelters.

Dear Readers,

Even before the coronavirus pandemic and economic crisis, we've been living in a moment eerily parallel to the time of FDR and Eleanor. Right-wing populism and oligarchy are on the rise around the globe, and vast inequality is entrenched in our economy. Racial injustice and human rights violations are top of mind as the world mourns George Floyd, Breonna Taylor, and the many Black lives stolen by police brutality. And on top of all that, the climate crisis intensifies.

What this moment is driving home is what many of us have long understood: Around the world, governments are falling woefully short of their duty to build economies that work for all and failing to deploy their power to ensure that the public goods and services everyone needs to thrive are accessible to all. In the midst of the pandemic in the United States, people are losing their jobs and employer-provided health care, while essential workers—grocery store clerks, janitors, delivery people, medical workers—aren't being adequately compensated as they put their lives on the line. In this white supremacist system, the police and pandemic have killed Black people at disproportionate rates.

The policies in this journal were written during the fall of 2019—before the deaths of George Floyd, Breonna Taylor, and Ahmaud Arbery, and before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic—but reflect an urgency that has only heightened in the time since their writing. As the authors demonstrate, inaction carries profound consequences for people's lives, as we've seen so clearly in recent months.

Roosevelters think globally and act locally, and we often push for long-term structural change by way of mitigating immediate threats to our communities. The policies in this journal explore increasing legal representation for people facing eviction in South Bend, Indiana; expanding access to HIV testing for secondary school students in Georgia; and fighting for more legal representation for asylum seekers in Texas. They uphold the legacy of Eleanor and FDR in a moment when learning from and building on that legacy is more important than ever. The times ahead of us are uncertain, but we know from the past that government can work well for its people, and that expanding public power—government of, by, and for all of us—is the only way we can confront this global moment.

I'm honored to be in this movement and in this fight with every one of you.

Onward,

Kathyn Kuul

Katie Kirchner

National Director

TABLE OF

Contents

EDUCATION

- **6** Reforming Tax-Exempt Status of Massachusetts Private Schools to Protect Transgender Students
- 8 Laundry Machines in Schools: A Two-Pronged Approach to Improving Student Performance

ECONOMY

- 10 Eviction Representation: Leveling the Legal Playing Field
- **12** Alleviating Poverty Traps for Job Seekers with Subprime Credit: Banning Credit Checks in Employment Decisions in New York State

HUMAN RIGHTS

- **14** Name Changes in Iowa: How to Make Transgender Identities More Fiscally Attainable
- **16** Backing Asylum Seekers: Expanding DOJ Accreditation at North Texas Law Institutions

DEMOCRATIC ACCESS

18 UGACounts: Accurately Enumerating the University of Georgia Student Population for the 2020 Census

ENERGY & ENVIRONMENT

- 20 MWind: Renewing Rural Michigan Communities' Economic Future through Wind Farm Development
- **22** Lighting the Future: Implementing Rooftop Solar Panels in UNC Dorm Renovations

HEALTH CARE

24 Mandating Access to HIV Testing and Counseling in Fulton County High Schools

Reforming Tax-Exempt Status of Massachusetts Private Schools to Protect Transgender Students

By Evelyn Rubinchik

Roosevelt @ Northeastern University

THESIS:

To mandate the protection of transgender students at private schools, the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education should alter the language of state regulations so that only schools that uphold nondiscrimination on the basis of gender identity will be granted tax-exempt status. This measure would lower rates of harassment and eliminate detrimental mental health impacts.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

The inequalities that transgender students experience when seeking educational opportunities are detrimental to their quality of life, as this lack of access is directly tied to income, dependence on public safety net programs, and incarceration rates. The *Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey* found that harassment of transgender students was so severe that it led to 15 percent of respondents leaving school. Of those sampled, 78 percent reported harassment by teachers or staff, with 35 percent reporting physical assault and 12 percent reporting sexual assault (Grant 2011).

In 2012, the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (MDESE) passed *An Act Relative to Gender Identity*, which prohibited discrimination on the basis of gender identity against students who attend public school. In the few years that this act has been implemented, it has already had a positive impact on the lives of transgender students in Massachusetts public schools, as the rate of physical attacks on trans students has dropped from the national average of 24 percent to 16 percent in-state. Similarly, the rate of sexual assault of trans students, 6 percent, is less than half the national rate of 13 percent (USTS 2015). However, no such protection is offered for transgender students who attend private schools, where they are often prohibited from wearing clothing, using facilities, and participating in athletic activities that are in accordance with their gender identities. In addition, students often lose their right to privacy through the disclosure of information regarding their biological sex or transition (MDESE 2012).

The lack of equality for transgender students at private schools must be addressed urgently, as data show that discrimination not only impacts students' academic results, but also has lifelong implications on future income, incarceration, health, suicidality, and even life span (Grant 2011).

TALKING POINTS

- Private schools are not subject to the Massachusetts law that mandates nondiscrimination on the basis of gender identity at public and charter schools.
- Transgender students are significantly more likely to experience harassment and violence at school than their cisgender counterparts, at the hands of both peers and faculty.
- Conditioning private schools' tax-exempt status on the prohibition of discrimination based on gender identity will ensure a safer and more supportive academic environment for all students, regardless of gender identity.



In order to guarantee transgender students a safer, more equitable academic environment, the language in the Massachusetts state regulation of private schools should be altered to grant tax-exempt status only to schools that commit to gender nondiscrimination. This commitment would include recognizing common-law name changes, maintaining student privacy, providing access to restrooms and changing facilities, and allowing for participation in appropriate sex-segregated classes. The updated language will state that no person shall be excluded from or discriminated against in admissions or in obtaining advantages, privileges, and courses of study on account of gender identity (MDESE 2012).

POLICY ANALYSIS

By conditioning tax-exempt status on nondiscrimination, the state will be able to establish a universal standard of equality, allowing transgender students the freedom to choose public or private education without the threat of discriminatory school policies. Such a standard has already been established in public schools by the MDESE, which requires that all public schools establish policies, provide training, and implement practices to ensure that obstacles to equal access to school programs are removed for all students, including transgender and gender nonconforming students. The guidelines established by MDESE have decreased rates of physical, verbal, and sexual harassment of trans students in public schools, along with ensuring that all students are able to use appropriate facilities and acquire documentation with pronouns and gender markers that match their gender identity (USTS 2015).

KEY FACTS

- Of those who expressed a transgender identity or gender non-conformity while in grades K-12, 78 percent experienced harassment, 35 percent experienced physical assault, and 12 percent experienced sexual violence (Grant 2011).
- A national survey by GLSEN found that 75 percent of transgender youth feel unsafe at school, and 33 percent report hearing slurs aimed at transgender individuals (GLSEN 2014).
- Sixty percent of transgender students have been denied access to restrooms and locker rooms (UCLA 2017).

Through the implementation of the language that currently applies to public schools, information about a student's assigned sex at birth, name change, or gender transition will be kept private and secure. All students will have access to restrooms, locker rooms and changing facilities that are sanitary and safe, which is essential, as 60 percent of transgender students have been denied access to appropriate restrooms and locker rooms (GLSEN 2014). Most importantly, whenever students are separated by gender in school activities or are subject to gender-specific policy, they must be permitted to participate in those activities and conform to policies that are consistent with their gender identity (MDESE 2011). In doing so, the state will guarantee that the rights of every transgender student are upheld. While those in opposition of this policy may argue that it interferes with religious freedom, there is a clear precedent in Massachusetts that does not allow for discrimination perpetrated by institutions that benefit financially from the state, either directly or indirectly, such as through property tax exemption. In the case of *Barrett v. Fontbonne Academy*, the Massachusetts Superior Court ruled that a Catholic secondary school was in violation of the state law against discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and gender due to its withdrawal of an offer of employment upon learning that the candidate had a same-sex partner, demonstrating that discrimination is not excusable on the grounds of an institution's religious protections (Lavoie 2015). It is critical that religious schools are aware that no religious exemptions will be granted in this policy change.

NEXT STEPS

In order to alter this language, the MDESE will vote to invite public comment on the proposed amendment to the language regulating private school tax exemption, allowing organizations such as the Massachusetts Teachers Association, GLBTQ Legal Advocates & Defenders (GLAD), and the Massachusetts Transgender Political Coalition (MTPC) to provide information regarding the impacts of this policy change (MDESE 2012). Afterwards, the MDESE will vote to approve the new regulation.

If approved, the MDESE will establish and disseminate a set of guidelines that will assist private schools in implementing the new gender identity provision. These guidelines will be created by the Office of Student and Family Support in partnership with organizations such as the MTPC and the Massachusetts Commission on LGBTQ Youth. Local LGBTQ+ nonprofits, such as Boston Alliance of Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and Transgender Youth (BAGLY), will be essential in establishing the language of guidelines. Input from the MDESE's Parent and Community Education and Involvement Advisory Council and the Safe Schools Program for LGBTQ Students will ensure that guidelines are comprehensive and efficiently disseminated to Massachusetts private schools. Furthermore, a new Board of Elementary and Secondary Education Advisory Councils will be established, mirroring the Racial Imbalance Advisory Council but with a focus on nondiscrimination on the basis of gender identity.



Laundry Machines in Schools: A Two-Pronged Approach to Improving Student **Performance**

By Em McPhie and Matthew Friedman Roosevelt @ Washington University in St. Louis

THESIS

Missouri's Ferguson-Florissant School District should address its poor student performance and opportunity gap by providing parents with laundry facilities in exchange for classroom volunteering, thereby bolstering parental involvement in education, increasing student access to clean clothing, and improving mental health and attendance.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

Just 17.2 percent of students in Missouri's Ferguson-Florissant School District are proficient in math, and only 29.6 percent are proficient in English (Bernhard 2019). All district students qualify for free or reduced-price lunch (NCES 2018), and just 46.8 percent of graduates are college or career-ready, significantly below the state average of 71.2 percent (MO DESE 2019).

Recent district reforms have included a newsletter and added public meetings aimed at increasing parental involvement (Ferguson-Florissant School District 2018). These efforts are based on data: Parental involvement is the most accurate predictor of student achievement (National PTA 2000), boosting academic and social outcomes regardless of demographics (Henderson and Mapp 2002). However, the district's current solutions are insufficient. Since lower-income parents are more likely to hold multiple jobs and have less free time, parental involvement rates are lower for students in poverty than for their wealthier counterparts, contributing to the opportunity gap and facilitating absenteeism (Child Trends 2013). While 47 percent of parents above the federal poverty threshold reported volunteering in their child's school, just 27 percent of parents living below the poverty line did the same. There is also a racial disparity: Just 34 percent of Black parents reported volunteering in their child's school, compared to 49 percent of white parents (McQuiggan, Megra, and Grady 2017). Thus, low-income students and students of color have disproportionately low access to the benefits of parental involvement in the classroom.

THE POLICY IDEA

The Ferguson-Florissant School District should install washers and dryers in its schools and create a system that enables parents to exchange volunteer hours for free access to laundry services. These laundry services would also help combat one of the leading causes of student absenteeism: a lack of clean clothes. An increase in parent volunteering will improve classrooms' adult-to-student ratio, facilitating individual and group learning, fostering interactions between peers, and directly engaging students (UCIA 2013). Coupled with the increased access to clean clothes, this additional volunteering would advance student performance.

TALKING POINTS

- Parental involvement is a key predictor of student academic and social success (Henderson and Mapp 2002).
- Current parental involvement measures in the district are insufficient; they do not encourage active collaboration between parents, their children, and their schools.
- Implementing a free laundry services system in Ferguson-Florissant high schools will facilitate parental involvement in the schools and their children's academic lives, raising proficiency rates and helping to create a more holistic academic environment.



POLICY ANALYSIS

Developing an incentivization system for classroom volunteering will combat low parental involvement. For working parents, economic opportunity cost is a major roadblock to volunteering, disproportionately impacting minority students. Free laundry services would enable these parents to volunteer while simultaneously completing a necessary task. This policy would also measurably improve student attendance; having clean clothes makes children feel more comfortable attending school, reduces the probability of low self-esteem and bullying, and improves mental health outcomes (Rueb 2019).

The Jennings, Missouri, school district implemented a similar policy in 2012, alongside additional district reforms. Within three years, PTA meeting attendance increased (National Public Radio 2016), and district performance scores improved by over 15 percent. The demographics and performance statistics for the Jennings district mirrored Ferguson-Florissant prior to policy execution, suggesting that similar initiatives would be successful (St. Louis Post-Dispatch 2019). Additionally, a program that put laundry machines in St. Louis public schools led to increased student attendance, motivation, and participation (Kirk 2016).

This policy will require schools to invest in washers and dryers, which cost roughly \$800 (STL Appliance Outlet 2020). Providing one laundry machine per 250 students would cost the district roughly \$35,200. This student-to-machine ratio could easily be scaled as participation increases.

Other costs include increased utility bills, annual maintenance, and detergent. Local grants and the Whirlpool Care Counts program, which subsidizes school laundry machines, could mitigate these costs, and the upkeep expenditures could eventually be folded into a holistic budgeting approach to district education overall.

NEXT STEPS

In applying for grants and re-budgeting for the implementation of this policy, the district should consult with the Jennings, Missouri, school district and former superintendent Tiffany Anderson, who spearheaded a similar program. Anderson can provide logistical and financial advice, as well as suggestions for other parental involvement programs to complement this initiative.

The district should also coordinate with local PTAs. Communication and collaboration—for example, a committee of parents and teachers devoted to increasing family involvement in the district—will incorporate community input. Many of the parents who could potentially benefit from this policy must work during school hours, so reaching out to them will be essential to find alternative times and opportunities to volunteer, such as chaperoning after-school events or helping teachers with classroom tasks before or after school. Furthermore, the district should take students' input into consideration, asking how they would like to see parents involved in the classroom.

KEY FACTS

- Just 17.2 percent of students in Missouri's Ferguson-Florissant school district are proficient in math; 29.6 percent are proficient in English (Bernhard 2019).
- Only 46.8 percent of graduates from the Ferguson-Florissant school district are college- or career-ready, lagging behind the state average of 71.2 percent (MO Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 2019).
- Introducing washing machines to a public school in Kansas City helped increase the percentage of students meeting attendance benchmarks from 46 percent to 84 percent (Rueb 2019).

Eviction Representation: Leveling the Legal Playing Field

By Gregory Miller and Genevieve Redsten Roosevelt @ Notre Dame

THESIS

In order to alleviate staggeringly high eviction rates, the city of South Bend, Indiana, should provide a right to counsel (RTC) in eviction cases, providing tenants with equal footing in court against predatory landlords.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

Tenants in South Bend lack proper legal representation, which heightens eviction rates, favors predatory landlords, and hinders justice. South Bend's eviction rate of 6.71 percent is 4.37 times higher than the national average, ranking among the worst 20 cities for eviction rates (Eviction Lab 2019). Landlords face little meaningful resistance to eviction filings: While 90 percent of landlords have representation in court (Pew 2019), 90 percent of tenants do not (Desmond 2015). Uneven representation erodes justice dramatically, the American Bar Association has advocated for a civil RTC to mitigate the discrepancy in representation (Dana 2006). Indiana's laissez-faire approach to landlord-tenant laws (Indiana 2019) has historically privileged the state's landlords, granting them nearly free range to dismiss tenants and gentrify neighborhoods as evidenced by the recent mass evictions of Western Manor Apartments, a largely African American complex (Parott 2019).

Eviction laws affect all tenants, and disproportionately harm low-income, Black women (Desmond 2015), who experience the worst stigma post-eviction when applying for a new home (Park 2018). Black and Latinx individuals are twice as likely to rent their homes (Clifullo et al. 2017). Indeed, Matthew Desmond finds that Black women are evicted at rates three times their population share (Desmond 2016).

Eviction impairs mental health (Collinson and Reed 2018), decreases earnings (Mok 2019), and increases the probability of prolonged homelessness (Crane and Warnes 2000)—effects which are all amplified by South Bend's shortage of affordable housing (Gardner 2018). The confluence of these impacts leaves victims hopeless as they fall into a vicious, self-perpetuating cycle (Desmond 2016).

TALKING POINTS

- Asymmetry in legal representation empowers landlords to secure speedy evictions while tenants cannot access proper legal defense resources; a right to counsel provides symmetry.
- Frequently, landlords are in violation of Indiana landlord-tenant regulations (e.g., improper supply of utilities in the house), but tenants are either unaware of these rights or lack the proper legal support to argue these violations in court.
- Equal access to justice can only occur after equal access to representation.

KEY FACTS

- South Bend's eviction rate is over four times the national average.
- Minneapolis saved over \$200,000 on emergency shelters alone after implementing RTC.
- Tenants represented by attorneys are 4.4 times less likely to be evicted.
- In New York City, areas with a right to counsel for eviction saw evictions decline five times faster than areas that did not have a right to counsel; evictions overall decreased 18 percent after implementation of a right to counsel.



South Bend should provide all tenants facing eviction with the right to counsel. This policy would cost the city roughly \$200,000 per year (two attorneys at a market-standard \$90,000 salary, plus other costs), which would be a minor expense in South Bend's \$358 million annual budget. The saved expenditures from eviction-caused homelessness would offset these expenses. Eventually, the RTC policy should be expanded to St. Joseph County and the state of Indiana, both of which have their own high eviction rates.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Eviction representation combats predatory landlords in two distinct ways: courtroom success and deterrent effects.

In the courtroom, represented tenants are 4.4 times more likely to retain possession of their apartments (Sandefur 2010). When New York City enacted a limited-scope RTC for evictions in 2017 (Capps 2017), evictions overall decreased by 18 percent (Navarro 2016), and they declined over five times faster in RTC zip codes (Oksana 2019).

RTC also deters predatory landlords from filing evictions without just cause. In NYC, filings for evictions and issued warrants decreased by 6 percent in the span of one year after the implementation of RTC (Mironova 2019). By preventing landlords from even filing eviction cases, RTC would spare tenants from the legal consequences of an eviction court record. An eviction filing remains on a tenant's record indefinitely, hindering their ability to move (Sandefur 2010).

Evictions disproportionately impact marginalized communities; legal protections help level disparate conditions and promote the well-being of marginalized children. Evicted families often must move to lower-income neighborhoods where they experience more financial strain (Ding 2016). Children in lower-income neighborhoods perform worse in school and earn less money in adulthood than their peers (Ding and Huang 2016).

South Bend's common council could potentially resist an RTC due to its costs, yet such hesitation would be unfounded. The cost of a lawyer, \$200,000 per year, would have a minimal impact on the city's annual budget of \$358 million (Parott 2018); with around 1,100 evictions occurring per year in South Bend (Eviction Lab n.d.), the cost would be offset by decreased use of homeless shelters and emergency rooms. Minneapolis, for instance, saw \$220,000 in savings from homeless shelters alone (Grundman and Kruger 2018).

NEXT STEPS

The policy should be adopted by the common council and approved by the mayor's office; the South Bend Legal Department should handle execution.

To get this bill passed, local non-profits will need to endorse the bill to send a signal to the common council; such organizations would include Near Northwest Neighborhood, Rebuilding Together, South Bend Heritage Foundation, and the South Bend Tenant Association.

The common council will be open to this policy. Last year, they passed RSVP, which increases code enforcement and signals their commitment to fair housing. Two council members serve on the board of the South Bend Tenant Association, and another council member has attended a couple of the meetings. James Mueller, the new mayor, campaigned on increasing fair and affordable housing in South Bend and made an eviction defense fund part of his platform.

The policy will automatically apply to all, so marginalized communities will be guaranteed legal representation; in order to spread awareness of the policy, the South Bend Tenant Association will engage its members.

Alleviating Poverty Traps for Job Seekers with Subprime Credit: Banning Credit Checks in Employment Decisions in New York State

By Jennifer Zhang and Geena García Roosevelt @ Columbia University

THESIS

The New York State Legislature should prohibit the consideration of credit scores in hiring decisions, as such use of credit checks results in disparate impact upon people of color and low-income backgrounds.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

Credit scores allegedly assess an individual's financial responsibility and are largely calculated by private companies, including FICO, Experian, Equifax, and Transunion (DePersio 2019). The FICO score is widely considered the industry standard for credit scores, ranging from 300 to 850, with scores below 620 considered "subprime" (Hayes 2019). While the exact score formula is not publicly known, FICO considers five major criteria with varying weight: payment history, amount owed, length of credit history, new credit lines, and type of credit used (Chad 2019).

Employers widely use credit scores in making employment and promotion decisions: 60 percent of human resource representatives have reported that their companies checked job candidates' credit reports (Corbae and Glover 2018). A 2014 Demos study found that 1 in 10 unemployed Americans were informed that they would not be hired because of information in their credit reports (Traub 2014). However, credit scores are poor indicators of financial responsibility (Traub 2014). More than half of collections tradelines (credit, debt, loans, etc.) that appear on credit reports are medical debts, which are necessary expenditures that do not indicate the financial responsibility of the consumer (CFPB 2014).

Credit scores vary widely by race and are often inaccurate, with score disparities falling along lines consistent with historical discrimination. Only 66 percent of Black Americans report having a credit score of 620 or above, compared with 85 percent of white Americans (Ruetschlin and Asante-Muhammad 2013). In 2013, the Federal Trade Commission found 1 in 5 credit reports contained errors and 1 in 4 consumers had errors that could affect their credit scores (FTC 2013). Furthermore, such errors are more common for consumers of color: 40 percent of Black Americans report having credit report errors, compared to only 7 percent of white Americans (Ruetschlin and Asante-Muhammad 2013).

The use of credit reports in hiring decisions disparately impacts the employment prospects of people of color (Copeland and Schnake 2016). While employers might say low credit scores indicate potential hiring risks, credit status is not a statistically significant predictor of worker productivity (Weaver 2015). Thus, while using credit checks in hiring decisions is not facially discriminatory, it results in adverse employment outcomes for historically marginalized groups.

TALKING POINTS

- Because Black and Latinx people are more likely to have poor credit, the use of credit history in employment decisions necessarily discriminates against these groups, violating Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (NCLC 2016).
- Excepting jobs in which prudent financial judgment is categorically necessary for the fulfillment of duty, an applicant's financial history is not an indicator of their judgment skills at large or a predictor of their job performance.
- The time and resources needed to correct credit report inaccuracies are often beyond the means of unemployed and low-income people who are more likely to have credit report inaccuracies, most disadvantaged by credit checks, and most urgently dependent upon employment.



To eliminate disparate impact and foster equal access to employment opportunities, the New York State Legislature should ban employers from considering credit scores in hiring decisions for jobs that do not categorically require prudent financial judgment. Exceptions should be narrowly tailored and made only for positions that involve controlling a large amount of financial assets and/or nonclerical exposure to trade secrets.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Upon losing employment or experiencing a major financial setback (such as unexpected medical fees), an individual is unable to pay for their expenses, resulting in a lower credit score (Leary 2019). People who report difficulty meeting their expenses are three times more likely to have subprime credit (Friedberg, Hynes, and Pattison 2017). Their lower credit score leaves them unable to find a job, forcing them to borrow more, which lowers their credit score even further; the result is a spiral of credit score depreciation and debt accrual (Corbae and Glover 2018). Credit report bans close this "poverty trap" that low-income people and people of color often face when they become unemployed (Corbae and Glover 2017). Such bans also increase the likelihood that unemployed individuals who recently experienced financial trouble will find a job by 25 percent (Friedberg, Hynes, and Pattison 2017). In net, this benefits society by lowering low-credit job seekers' dependence on state welfare systems and decreasing the risk that they will go bankrupt (Friedberg, Hynes, and Pattison 2017).

KEY FACTS

- In a survey conducted by the Society for Human Resource Management, 60 percent of human resource representatives reported that their companies performed credit checks on job candidates (Corbae and Glover 2018).
- 1 in 10 people in low- to medium-income households have been denied a job because of poor credit (Traub and McElwee 2016).
- In 2013, the Federal Trade Commission found that 1 in 5 credit reports contained errors and 1 in 4 consumers had errors that could affect their credit scores (FTC 2013). Furthermore, such errors are more common for consumers of color: 40 percent of Black Americans report having credit report errors, compared to only 7 percent of white Americans (Ruetschlin and Asante-Muhammad 2013).

Some studies purport that a credit score ban would

hurt prospective employees by reducing overall job vacancies (Van Doren 2019; Cortes, Glover, and Tasci 2018). Other researchers have found that while credit report bans improve high-wage and government employment prospects for people in the lowest credit score range, moderate- to low-scoring consumers were worse off when employers substituted checks with other indicators such as job experience and education (Clifford and Shoag n.d.).

However, these studies are based on either limited datasets covering the short-term effects of credit bans, as most have only been in place for a few years, or, crucially, economic models that assume credit scores correlate to worker productivity (Friedberg, Hynes, and Pattison 2017). While the research demonstrates a possible cost to implementing credit report bans, the question policymakers should consider is whether the moral and economic benefits are worth these short-term impacts.

At the national level, members of Congress have shown support for increasing restrictions on credit agencies and the role of credit reports in access to goods and employment opportunities (Murphy 2017; US Congress 2019). Ten states and four cities—including New York City—have implemented such policies, affirming the net positive benefits of credit check bans (Devata, Syzba, and Blecher 2018).

NEXT STEPS

Since the 2017—2018 legislative session, the New York State Assembly and Senate have been considering Assembly Bill A2611E and Senate Bill S2884E, respectively, which would ban employers in New York State from considering credit history in hiring, employment, and licensing decisions (Sanders Jr. 2020). The most efficient route to implementation would be for each chamber to pass and send their respective bills to Governor Andrew Cuomo, who has expressed support for the policy (US News 2019). Grassroots advocacy from constituents contacting their state legislative representatives could help speed up the passage of these bills. Although there is some promise in the possibility of federal action, the uncertainty makes it imperative for progressive states like New York to act.



Name Changes in Iowa:

How to Make Transgender Identities More Fiscally Attainable

By Laura Widman and Emily Miranda

Roosevelt @ University of Iowa

THESIS

In order to allow transgender Iowans to more easily legally transition, the state of Iowa should abolish its current pricing structure and adopt a universal fee of \$35 for all name changes.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

In the state of Iowa, the policy to change one's name is divided into three categories: marriage, divorce, and other cases (Iowa Legislature 2018). In the case of marriage, an individual must pay a \$35 fee and provide a copy of their marriage license. In the case of divorce, a person can revert to a name given at birth or a name taken as part of a former marriage at no extra cost. For any other reason, there is a \$185 fee, and the person must petition the court. The petitioner is also required to attach a birth certificate to the petition, often prompting an additional \$20 fee for reissuance. There is also a \$20 fee for an official document reflecting the name change and a \$20 fee for a new birth certificate (Sandler et al. 2019). Beyond this, there are fees for reissuing a new driver's license, Social Security card, passport, and other legal documents that can quickly amount to over \$1,000. This discrepancy disproportionately affects transgender Iowans, who often change their names to more closely match their gender identity. Names are often a gendered feature, and an individual changing their name to better reflect their gender identity is an important aspect of transitioning that is beneficial to a trans individual's mental health and safety in social settings. Transgender Americans are one of the most economically disenfranchised minority groups in the United States and are over four times more likely to be living in extreme poverty than the average American (Grant et al. 2011). To place the cost of name-changing out of reach for many people who seek such a change is both unfair and discriminatory.

TALKING POINTS

- Not being able to legally change their name can put transgender Iowans in positions of vulnerability and harm: 40 percent of respondents to "Injustice at Every Turn" reported being harassed when they presented an ID that did not match their gender identity/expression (Grant et al. 2011)
- The fees for changing one's name on legal documents, as well as on passports, Social Security cards, and driver's licenses, can quickly amount to over \$1,000.
- This policy will also benefit victims of domestic abuse who seek to change their name to distance themselves from their abuser for safety or mental health reasons (Driskell 2009).

KEY FACTS

- In the past year, 31 percent of transgender people in rural communities have had negative experiences when showing IDs that do not match their gender identity (Movement Advancement Project 2019).
- Some 78 percent of respondents to "Injustice at Every Turn" reported feeling more comfortable at work—with improved performance—after transitioning, even though incidents of reported harassment did not change (Grant et al. 2011).
- 81 percent of US Transgender Survey respondents in lowa reported that none of their IDs had the name and gender they preferred, the main reason being the high cost of having them changed (National Center for Transgender Equality 2015).



The state of Iowa should amend its current policy regarding officially changing one's legal name and lower the fee from \$185 to a universal fee of \$35. Lowering this fee would make the process of changing one's name far more financially accessible. This would make transitioning for transgender Iowans, as well as recovery for domestic violence survivors, simpler and safer.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Even without barriers to changing their names, transgender individuals in Iowa are already economically and socially disenfranchised. Other fees for civil cases are much closer to \$35, and in some cases, such as for a final decree of dissolution of marriage, the fee is donated to charity (Iowa Legislature 2017). Those in favor of keeping fees high argue that it serves as a barrier to fraudulent activity, such as evading the law, taxes, and debt collectors, although this justification does not hold up to scrutiny (ACLU 2015). Name changes create a paper trail that can be traced through the legal system, which would not benefit potential abusers of the policy change. While there is no reliable way to analyze the proportion of trans Iowans who legally change their name in order to match their gender identity, these data are not required to understand the impact of the financial barrier on the trans community. The benefits of reducing the mere cost of a name change extends beyond economic equality; it has been shown that the ability of transgender individuals to change their name increases their quality of life exponentially. Providing resources that aid in transition, such as the ability to change one's name, improves mental health and performance at work for these individuals and also decreases depression and anxiety to levels more consistent with peers who are cisgender (Durwood, McLaughlin, and Olson 2016). The benefits of a lower fee for trans Iowans, as well as for individuals looking to change their names to overcome a past of domestic abuse, outweigh the arguments in favor of the fee. While this change would not alleviate all costs associated with changing one's name, we believe this is an important starting point and hope to see similar changes nationally.

NEXT STEPS

In order to reduce the fee for people seeking to change their names on Iowa-issued identification, we must have support from the Iowa judicial branch. We plan to reach out to our local representative: Zach Wahls—who has gained recognition for his defense of LGBTQ+ rights—to introduce the bill. A statewide coalition among various LGBTQ+ organizations would help lobbying efforts. The University of Iowa College of Law is a likely ally, having already produced a policy guide to help educate transgender individuals on how to change their identification. In addition, the Iowa Civil Rights Commission is tasked with recommending legislation concerning gender identity discrimination to the state legislature (Sandler et al. 2016). Next, we will consult mental health professionals in order to explain the health benefits for transgender individuals of changing their name. Finally, we will reach out to domestic violence crisis workers to explain the urgency of making name changes more accessible for victims of domestic violence.

Backing Asylum Seekers: Expanding DOJ Accreditation at North Texas Law Institutions

By Ted Shi, Pratik Koppikar, Vivian Tran, Varun Venkat, Taylor Crockett, and Cady Baltz Roosevelt @ The University of Texas at Dallas

THESIS

To combat the lack of accessible legal resources available to asylum applicants, North Texas university law programs should apply for accreditation through the Department of Justice (DOJ), allowing law students to represent asylum seekers in immigration court.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

Although the number of asylum applications has risen, Texas immigration courts fail to provide a sanctuary for those escaping dangerous conditions in Latin America. Asylum applications from the Northern Triangle of Guatemala, Honduras, and El Salvador have increased 800 percent from 2012 to 2017, coinciding with a dramatic uptick in gang violence (Mossaad 2019). Yet, only 20 percent of asylum requests have been granted from the Northern Triangle. In recent years, the courts have tightened the legal process, suggesting that most asylum requests are "meritless" (Roig-Franzia 2019). However, the merit of an asylum case is often based on slight inconsistencies or minute legal details that make winning a case a "difficult, time-consuming task" (Roig-Franzia 2019).

The enactment of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) in 1952 placed the burden of proof on applicants to provide a "credible testimony" for meeting the standards of being a refugee in Section 208 of the INA (Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952). After the September 11 attacks, anti-immigrant policymakers utilized the ambiguity of Section 208 of the INA to deny applications by citing a lack of credible testimony (Kerwin 2011). In response to this lack of government support, a network of charities has emerged along the southern border, attempting to provide legal services and assistance to asylum seekers as they navigate the application process (Del Real and Fernandez 2019). Given the shortage of available legal resources, the growing violence in parts of Latin America, and the recent increase in asylum denials under the Trump administration, immediate action addressing asylum immigration policy is imperative.

At the federal level, policies such as the Migrant Protection Protocols (MPP) (DHS 2019) and the interim final rule (49 CFR § 106.35, 2006) have significantly stymied asylum relief. Current federal policy directly harms individuals who already experience the worst of conditions; given the rising violence in areas such as the Northern Triangle, local asylum policy must become a priority to effectively use the nation's federal structure as a tool to combat structural injustice.

TALKING POINTS

- Refugees seeking asylum are fleeing to the United States in increasing numbers due to increased violence, but the immigration system is incredibly difficult to navigate.
- Access to legal representation is a crucial resource for any individual seeking asylum in the US.
- The Department of Justice allows for accreditation of non-law practitioners so that they may assist in asylum cases, yet this opportunity remains relatively underutilized (8 C.F.R. § 1292, 2009).
- Though none in Texas have yet done so, schools of law can seek accreditation to allow their students to engage in asylum cases, providing valuable legal experience for students and benefits for those seeking asylum.



8 C.F.R. § 1292.1(a)(4) is a federal regulation managed by the Department of Justice that allows a non-attorney "accredited representative" to represent individuals seeking asylum (8 C.F.R. § 1292, 2009). North Texas academic law institutions should enact a binding policy to create programs for students to receive accreditation or partial accreditation, allowing students to legally represent asylum seekers in immigration court and aid individuals in the process of filing a case. Through this network of legal assistance, the lack of representation in asylum cases would be dramatically mitigated.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Expanding legal representation would considerably increase the chances for applicants to be approved for asylum. The approval rate for unrepresented individuals in FY 2017 was 10.0 percent, yet represented individuals were approved 45.6 percent of the time (TRAC 2017).

Historically, denial rates in Texas have been some of the highest in the nation and thus warrant the most attention. Between 2013 and 2018, Dallas judges denied up to 94.4 percent of applications (TRAC 2018). In Houston, 9 of 10 immigration court judges denied at least 80 percent of applicants (Trovall 2018). The national denial rate was substantially lower, peaking at 65.0 percent in 2018 (TRAC 2018). The current political culture in Texas is in opposition to increased immigration from the southern border, and Governor Greg Abbott recently declared that Texas will attempt to halt future asylum seekers (Garrett and Solis 2020). Nonetheless, the long-term viability of his approach is doubtful, and refugee admission should remain a highly contested issue both in court and in policy.

KEY FACTS

- In the past five years, asylum denials have increased 193 percent (DOJ 2019).
- In 2018, the Dallas Immigration Court processed 784 asylum claims (DOJ 2019). However, from 2013–2018, Dallas Immigration Court judges denied up to 94.4 percent of cases (TRAC 2018).
- Dallas currently has only seven accredited organizations and 40 representatives (DOJ 2019).
- Asylum seekers without legal representation were almost five times less likely to win in immigration court than those with representation (TRAC 2017).

North Texas is home to critical stakeholders such as the Human Rights Initiative, International Rescue Committee (IRC), and Catholic Charities of Dallas, which all provide direct relief for asylum seekers; the IRC, for example, is contracted with the city of Dallas to represent detainees in deportation hearings (Solis 2020). Our policy seeks to build upon this momentum by mobilizing academic institutions in the area to work toward these same efforts, ideally in collaboration with these organizations.

In accreditation, law schools have the unique opportunity to give their students self-driven court experience. Recruiting any number of accredited student representatives to the desperate cause of asylum seekers would make significant headways, but it would also cost resources from local law schools. It remains to be seen if institutions are willing to spend the resources to earn accreditation, train students in immigration law specifics, and continue the program. Furthermore, immigration law is an inherently political subject that many schools may be unwilling to broach with respect to safer, cheaper endeavors.

NEXT STEPS

Our plan for policy implementation first involves working with accredited institutions and individuals to understand the necessary requirements for a successful application for accreditation. We have already met with Betsy Jenson of Elon University School of Law to discuss restrictions and conservative resistance for student accreditation.

From here, we will interface with faculty at Texas A&M University School of Law Legal Clinic, SMU Dedman School of Law Family Immigration Detention Clinic, and University of North Texas Dallas College of Law to discuss school-specific barriers to student accreditation. We will assess their current aid structure to asylum seekers by reviewing past cases and determine whether sufficient legal assistance is being provided. On target campuses without sufficient aid, we'll provide resources to gain accreditation by connecting them with campuses that have already been through the process. Finally, after campus accreditation has been approved, we'll continue our engagement with clinics experiencing deficiencies to develop individualized institutional policies that create a pathway to accreditation for students.

UGACounts:

Accurately Enumerating the University of Georgia Student Population for the 2020 Census

By Christopher Rosselot, Shashank Ganeshan, Priyanka Parikh, Sophie Murtey, and Marshall Berton

Roosevelt @ University of Georgia

THESIS

University of Georgia (UGA) students have been significantly undercounted in the US Census, resulting in reduced access to resources for Athens-Clarke County (ACC). To prevent an undercount in 2020, ACC should establish a postsecondary education subcommittee to support enumeration efforts.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

As the 2020 Census approaches, accurate counting is crucial for ACC to allocate the funding required to serve its community for the next decade. However, those below the age of 30 constitute 44 percent of nonparticipants nationwide (Pew Research Center 2010). UGA students represent approximately 25 percent of the ACC population. Unfortunately, ambiguity in defining "usual residence" leads many students to assume that they should be counted in their parents' county (Athens-Clarke County 2020; Cohn 2014; America Counts Staff 2020). However, students should be counted where they live most of the year: their college town. Despite low student response rates, no targeted efforts exist in ACC to combat undercounting among postsecondary students (US Census Bureau 2020; Morris 2019).

Accurate counts ensure that ACC receives federal funding to support infrastructure, education, affordable housing, employment, and health care that benefit county residents and the UGA community (United States Census). Census data also determine political redistricting and influence where businesses choose to expand (CBPP 2018). In ACC, 34.4 percent of people live in poverty, and 14.7 percent of the homeless population are chronically homeless; these groups depend significantly on government-funded resources (United States Census Bureau; Cline 2016). Per one estimate, the 2010 Census undercounted 10,000 ACC residents, which reduced funding by about \$16 million (Johnson 2019). Thus, undercounting residents deprives ACC, particularly marginalized communities, of necessary public funding.

TALKING POINTS

- As the counting period approaches (March—July), accurate counts will allow ACC to receive additional federal funding to support public programs, draw fairer districts, and attract businesses (US Census Bureau 2019).
- UGA students represent approximately 25 percent of ACC's population, and of those who fail to complete the census, 32 percent have no awareness of it (Pew Research Center 2010).
- Increasing postsecondary student census participation will help ACC fund initiatives that combat poverty, such as the Affordable Housing Fund, Prosperity Package, and Workforce Investment Program—projects that ACC flagged as future budgetary issues.

THE POLICY IDEA

The ACC Unified Government should establish a Complete Count postsecondary education subcommittee ("UGACounts") focused on accurately counting postsecondary students in the 2020 census. This subcommittee will unify disparate stakeholders through an education, promotion, and enumeration campaign. Accurate counting will help equip ACC with federal funding to grow community projects designed to reduce poverty, improve education, expand health care programs, and bolster local infrastructure.



POLICY ANALYSIS

The Census Bureau delegates the enumeration of specific populations to local Complete Count Committees (CCC), who, in turn, create subcommittees targeting specific populations. In its current form, the Education Committee targets K—12 students, their families, school employees, postsecondary students, and university employees. Since college students are an inherently different population from K—12 students, a postsecondary-specific subcommittee is necessary.

A student-led subcommittee allows students to leverage informal channels of communication in ways unavailable to external actors. At the same time, operating within the larger CCC is crucial for the subcommittee's success. Access to marketing materials, census expertise, and cross-sector "best practices" would not be readily available otherwise. In addition, major student groups, including student-run activism organizations, such as UGA Votes, can leverage existing networks to secure student civic participation, and have agreed to collaborate. Since the Census Bureau conducts education campaigns targeting undercounted populations, coordinating a unified effort among stakeholders is feasible.

The cost of inaction is a lack of targeted information and enumeration to students currently living in ACC, resulting in confusion and misinformation. Current CCC oversight is minimal, so without an intentional student-led effort, the likelihood of undercounting the hardest-to-reach students (those living off-campus) increases. Similar to the events following the 2010 census, ACC could experience a decline in funding for key federal programs such as the Pell Grant and Medicaid, which would harm college students and ACC constituents in need for the next 10 years.

NEXT STEPS

Accurate enumeration requires grassroots support and a diverse coalition with representation from UGA administration, students, and service workers. The establishment of a postsecondary education subcommittee will connect key stakeholders, through frequent meetings and collaborative efforts.

We will work with administrators including Alison McCullick, Director of UGA Community Relations, as well as major campus organizations such as Student Government Association. In partnership with these groups, the postsecondary education subcommittee will conduct tabling events in the Tate Student Center, lead a university-wide social media campaign, and host informational sessions to encourage census completion and educate students.

Furthermore, the subcommittee will research past inefficiencies in counting UGA students with the local Complete Count Committee. For students living off-campus, we will work with Greek councils to encourage fraternity and sorority participation and local leaders, such as Athens Mayor Kelly Girtz, to encourage apartment owners to set up informational tables and bulletins.

KEY FACTS

- In 2010, Georgia earned \$1,639.10 per person counted in the 2010 census (US Census Bureau).
- Athens-Clarke County has a poverty rate of 34.4 percent—one of the highest in the country (US Census Bureau 2018).
- Approximately 19,543 UGA students, 66 percent, live in off-campus housing, primarily in nonfamily groups (U.S. News & World Report).
- In 2017, ACC received \$1,187,911 from the Community Development Block Grant as a result of census reports. The funding helped improve economic mobility in areas of financial decline (US Census in Georgia).

MWind:

Renewing Rural Michigan Communities' Economic Future through Wind Farm Development

By Morgan Showen, Paige Hodder, David Kinane, and Emma Uebelhor

Roosevelt @ University of Michigan

THESIS

Challenges facing the agricultural industry throughout Michigan have caused economic losses in rural counties. To counteract these hardships and make the state a renewable energy leader, Michigan should create wind energy incentive zones to encourage wind turbine development within these struggling communities.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

The Michigan agricultural industry has been in decline for decades as a result of increased automation and increased reliance on corporate-run farms (Paquette 2019). In addition, the industry has been recently damaged by changing trade and domestic farming policies, shifting consumer demands, and increasingly volatile weather, resulting in higher levels of unemployment in several counties (Barrett 2019; BLS 2019). Between 2012 and 2019, over 5,000 farms in Michigan closed, and from 2010 to 2015, the industry lost around 119,000 jobs (Keene 2019; Knudson 2018). With the average age of Michigan farmers increasing by eight years on average from 1982 to 2012, more farmers than ever before will be retiring in the next decade, leaving their farmland behind (CMF 2016). Coupled with a decline in the tradition of passing on farms from parent to child, the pressure is rising for Michigan to find people to continue working the farmland that contributes to nearly a quarter of the state's gross domestic product (CMF 2016).

Concurrently, residents in urban areas across the state suffer from increasing levels of air pollution as a result of fossil fuel use (Shaffer 2017). Increased air pollution has impacted communities of color disproportionately and can lead to issues such as asthma, cardiovascular and respiratory conditions, adverse birth outcomes, and missed work or school (Shaffer 2017).

The combination of these problems has resulted in a need for Michigan to find ways to decrease air pollution and to support its agricultural industry.

TALKING POINTS

- Due to factors outside of their control, such as increased inclement weather and ongoing trade wars, farmers in Michigan have been struggling with low income and high unemployment.
- Residents of Detroit and its surrounding suburbs are plagued by high concentrations of carbon emissions that disproportionately impact the public health and economic well-being of people of color.
- To help farmers in rural areas bolster their wages and Detroit residents breathe cleaner air, Michigan must prioritize the development of wind energy on farmland.

KFY FACTS

- Farmers who lease their land to wind energy companies are investing, on average, twice as much money into their land per year, and are more likely to continue to farm and pass on their land to children (Mills 2015).
- Employment of wind turbine technicians, the fifth highest paying job without a college degree, is expected to double by 2026 (US News & World Report 2019).
- Air pollution from nonrenewable energy sources in and around Detroit causes 690 deaths, 1,800 hospitalizations, hundreds of thousands of missed workdays, and \$7 billion of lost economic production per year (U-M 2019).



To harness the potential for wind energy throughout the state, Michigan should implement our program, entitled MWind, to connect farmers with energy companies looking to invest in wind power development. MWind would target economically vulnerable rural areas that would most benefit from wind development, as determined by unemployment rates, available land, and wind energy source potential. Offering tax incentives based on long-term commitment and levels of energy production, the program will simultaneously establish Michigan as a renewable energy leader and promote economic development throughout the state.

POLICY ANALYSIS

By leasing their land, farmers would boost their income by about \$4,000 to \$8,000 per turbine (Modern Agriculture 2017), buffering against poor crop yields or volatility in the market (Barrett 2019). In addition, wind turbines, unlike alternative energy sources, have a minimal impact on farmland, allowing farmers to continue producing on land that has been in their families for generations (Mills 2019) Together, these benefits would contribute to the preservation of small independent farming in Michigan. The program would also bring jobs to counties with higher rates of unemployment; one gigawatt of wind energy can support over 4,000 temporary jobs and 100 annual jobs (Dvorak 2016). We identified counties with abundant farmland (MTRI 2017) and high potential for wind energy production (WINDExchange 2019) as opportunity zones; current unemployment rates in these counties range from 0.6—1.7 percent (BLS 2019) above the national level of 3.5 percent (National Conference of State Legislators 2019). Finally, recent studies suggest that just one 100 MW wind farm has the potential to eliminate the equivalent of more than 30,000 homes' carbon emissions (Nordman 2013). As a result, increased wind farm construction will promote improved air quality throughout the state.

Some individuals are concerned that wind turbines are aesthetically unpleasing, but on this level, the potential benefits outweigh the costs (Graham 2018). The largest opposition would likely be posed by fossil fuel companies. However, renewables are becoming increasingly popular, and many of these companies are already invested in renewable energy, including Michigan's primary energy provider, which recently set a goal of producing 100 percent carbon-neutral energy by 2050. Promoting wind energy in struggling communities throughout Michigan has the potential to improve the lives of people across the state.

NEXT STEPS

With the support of the state legislature, the MWind program has the potential to push Michigan toward renewable energy leadership and to reinvigorate rural economies throughout the state. To gain this support, we will build a diverse collation of advocates, from farmers and rural community members involved in pro-wind organizations to members of Detroiters Working of Environmental Justice who are already fighting against the worst effects of pollution in the state. Additionally, we will pull in researchers like Dr. Sarah Mills, an expert on Michigan rural renewable energy policy, to contribute their expertise to enhance the program's credibility and to identify more opportunity zones. Ideally, this broad coalition will motivate legislators, from opportunity zones and from throughout the state, to implement the MWind program. Following implementation, the program, like the rest of Michigan's energy production, would be regulated by the Michigan Public Utilities Commission.

Lighting the Future:Implementing Rooftop Solar Panels in UNC Dorm Renovations

By Reilly Robinson, Gabriel Juedemann, and Alfredo Ellz

Roosevelt @ University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

THESIS

To reduce the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill's (UNC) carbon emissions, most of which are generated by student energy use (Kupatt, Scandella, and Waters 2008), the UNC Senate should incorporate the addition of rooftop solar panels in plans to renovate student dormitories.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

In 2006, the town of Chapel Hill became the first American municipality to pledge a 60 percent decrease in carbon emissions by 2050. Despite this pledge, UNC-Chapel Hill uses fossil fuels for the vast majority of its energy needs, creating 489,524 metric tons of carbon dioxide in 2018 (UNC Three Zeros n.d.). This lack of clean energy stems considerably from North Carolina's energy laws, which only allow utility companies to charge for electricity. Although utility giant Duke Energy has heavily invested in large solar farms that then sell their energy to the monopoly, it has neglected small-scale solar projects such as rooftop panels, as they are not as profitable (Gearino 2018). However, local action to combat climate change is essential to inventory greenhouse gas emissions, set appropriate targets, create policy solutions, and implement crossboundary policies (Tang et al. 2010).

Steps toward purifying our energy sources have the potential to benefit society as a whole, given that continued use of fossil fuels contributes to global

KEY FACTS

- UNC-Chapel Hill produces about 340,000 metric tons of carbon dioxide annually, with most of it stemming from student energy consumption through lights and heating inside dorms (Kupatt, Scandella, and Waters 2008).
- The group RESPC was able to collect \$185,000 in student fees to fund solar panels for the Morrison dorm's 2004–2005 renovation (Kupatt, Scandella, and Waters 2008). This plan can be feasibly reimplemented in future dorm renovations.
- The University of California, Berkeley purchased rooftop solar panels significantly below market rate to supply 1 MW of energy per year, which has proved cost-effective within one year of implementation (Berkeley 2018).

warming and subsequent damage to the environment. In North Carolina, issues arising from climate change include rising sea levels, increased rates of catastrophic events, decreased water availability, and increases in both frequency and severity of extreme heat events (Devlin et al. 2014). As climate scientists insist on net-zero carbon emission by 2050 to keep the global temperature rise below 1.5° C, the switch to clean energy is imperative (IPCC 2018).

TALKING POINTS

- In order to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 to keep the increase in global temperature below 1.5° C as recommended by climate scientists, we must transition to clean energy like solar power.
- Since the federal government has been slow to enact anti-carbon laws, smaller institutions such as universities must take the initiative to transition to cleaner energy.
- Installing solar panels to dorms upon renovation is a cost-efficient way to reduce our carbon footprint and can be replicated in the future by other schools and municipalities. Additionally, it is nonintrusive to the dorms as they will already be undergoing renovations.



UNC has already proposed a new "Master Plan" to modernize residence halls in an innovative style (Needham 2019); adding solar panels to dorms as they are renovated would push Chapel Hill closer to its goal of reduced carbon emissions. Given that students use most of UNC's power, purifying the energy sources used by dormitories would significantly reduce UNC greenhouse gas emissions. It would also curb the corporate power of utility companies, which currently account for 47 percent of UNC's carbon emissions and profit considerably from the school's continued use of fossil fuels (Kupatt, Scandella, and Waters 2008).

POLICY ANALYSIS

UNC has already proven that it is capable of installing solar panels during dorm renovation. When the Morrison dormitory underwent renovation between 2004—2005, the Renewable Energy Special Projects Committee (RESPC) of the UNC Senate collected around \$185,000 in student fees to purchase 172 panels; these funds came from the \$4 fee in student tuition set aside for renewable energy projects (Kupatt, Scandella, and Waters 2008). Unfortunately, poor panel placement and structural flaws limit the functionality of these panels.

However, rooftop solar panel installations can be effective if UNC replicates projects undertaken by other universities and municipalities. For example, the University of California, Berkeley purchased panels at 25 to 40 percent below the market rate to provide a total of 1 MW; estimates show the panels saved on energy costs within a year (Berkeley Sustainability 2018). In New York City, rooftop solar panels citywide will provide 100 MW, reduce emissions by 35,000 MtCO2, and save \$8 million in annual energy costs (NYC 2020). Admittedly, rooftop solar panels are not sufficient to eliminate UNC's dependence on fossil fuels (Goldfarb 2016); however, they are a cost-effective starting place signaling a dedication to green energy.

The utility companies that provide almost half of UNC's energy are likely to be resistant to this policy. One argument they could pose is that not all buildings have the infrastructure to support the weight of solar panels, requiring traditional energy sources. However, sustainability fees have increased from \$4 to \$8 since the original establishment of the Morrison solar panels (UNC Cashier 2019), and this extra money would be used to bring such dorms up to code to support the panels.

NEXT STEPS

To promote the construction of rooftop solar panels, the sustainability fund raised from student fees should be utilized. The UNC Senate, and specifically RESPC, determines the usage of these funds, and thus we must lobby them directly. The RESPC is made up of seven voting members: five undergraduate students and two graduate students. The RESPC allocated \$185,000 to the Morrison Dorm Renovation (RESPC 2019), so we will lobby for the prompt creation of a fund dedicated to renovating modern dorms on campus—Horton and Koury Residence Halls, for example. In the long term, a fund dedicated to solar installations on future dormitories and renovations of older dorms as UNC's "Master Plan" of dormitory renovation proceeds would be beneficial as well. It may be necessary to rally student support through town halls and petitions to pressure the RESPC to prioritize solar panels over other projects, and overall support from the student government may prove especially valuable.

Mandating Access to HIV Testing and Counseling in Fulton County **High Schools**

By Aditi Madhusudan Roosevelt @ The University of Georgia

THESIS

To address factors leading to low rates of HIV testing and linkage to medical care among high school students, Fulton County should mandate access to free, confidential, rapid HIV testing and counseling services on-site in public high schools.

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS

In 2017, Georgia ranked fifth highest in the nation for its rate of new HIV diagnoses, and counties within metro Atlanta, such as Fulton and Dekalb, accounted for roughly two-thirds of Georgia residents diagnosed and living with HIV (DPH 2017); 4,423 youths aged 13—24 in Atlanta Eligible Metropolitan Area (EMA) were diagnosed with HIV from 2008 to 2012, and in 2011, it was reported that only half of youths in this area received medical care for HIV following their diagnosis (DPH 2019). Rates of HIV testing are low among high school students (CDC 2019a), and youths aged 13–24 in the Atlanta EMA are less likely to be linked to medical care or achieve viral suppression as compared to those aged 25—34, 35—44, 45–54, and those above 55 years of age (DPH 2019).

While Fulton County has attempted to address the HIV epidemic by instituting a department for HIV elimination (Saunders 2019a), launching the High Impact Prevention Program (HIPP), and offering free or reduced-cost HIV testing through its board of health, it has failed to account for factors that may prevent youths from accessing HIV-related services. Youths aged 13-24 who are receiving medical care for HIV are more likely to come from low-income households than those in older age groups (CDC 2019a), possibly preventing these youths from accessing necessary transportation for health care access. The rate of testing and linkage to medical care may also be impacted by the stigma surrounding HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases within this age group (CDC 2019a). While Georgia law permits minors to consent to HIV testing and treatment without parental approval (DPH 2019), many of them receive health insurance through their guardians, triggering concerns about confidentiality among youths (Lezin et al. n.d.). 23 percent of Georgia residents diagnosed with HIV in 2017 developed AIDS within one year, which indicates a late diagnosis (DPH 2017). Lack of access to HIV testing and treatment could be detrimental to many students' health.

TALKING POINTS

Due to factors such as stigma (CDC 2019a), low-income family backgrounds (CDC 2019a), and concerns about confidentiality (Lezin et al. n.d.), high school-aged youths may refrain from seeking HIV testing or treatment in a timely manner.

KEY FACTS

- Fulton County ranks sixth out of all counties in the United States for its rate of new HIV diagnoses, with the rate of new infections in the Atlanta area being double that of the state of Georgia as a whole (Fulton County Government n.d.).
- The CDC estimates that in 2016, only 56 percent of the approximately 50,900 youths aged 13-24 with HIV were aware of their infection (CDC 2019a).
- The NIH conducted a study on young school-aged Black and Hispanic men who have sex with men (YMSM), two populations who are disproportionately affected by HIV, and found that 34.4 percent would be more likely to get tested for HIV if they could do so at or in close proximity to a school (Morris et al. 2018).



- While there have been several initiatives enacted in recent years to address the HIV epidemic in Fulton County, they do not account for the obstacles youths disproportionately face when seeking out HIV testing and/or treatment.
- By serving as a medium for administering HIV testing and linkage to medical care, schools can contribute to improving health and educational outcomes for students (Lezin et al. n.d.).

POLICY IDEA

In order to reach at-risk youths who need access to HIV testing and treatment, Fulton County should enact a countywide policy that mandates that public high schools provide free, confidential, rapid HIV testing and counseling services on-site. School clinic staff should be trained to provide these services for students. HIV pretest and medically appropriate posttest counseling, which is standard for individuals being tested for HIV in the state of Georgia (DPH 2019), should focus on risk evaluation and linkage to external medical treatment for HIV-positive individuals or preventative care for high-risk, HIV-negative individuals.

POLICY ANALYSIS

In addition to funds that are appropriated at the county and state levels, Fulton County receives a significant amount of federal funding for local HIV-related initiatives through the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (FCTFHA 2017). In 2017, the Fulton County Board of Health received almost \$6.9 million in federal funding to provide HIV care and prevention services (FCTFHA 2017).

Funding for this proposal could draw from Fulton County's CDC-funded HIPP, which is already working to expand access to free HIV testing in community settings and link individuals to medical care and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) (Fulton County Board of Health "High Impact"). Though the out-of-pocket cost of HIV treatment and PrEP is high (Walensky 2019), linking low-income or uninsured students to medical and preventative care would be feasible through the support of Fulton County's no-cost PrEP clinic (Cardwell-Alston 2018) and the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program. The estimated \$367,134 lifetime treatment cost for individuals with HIV (CDC 2019b) indicates that the prevention of even a single case of HIV saves thousands of dollars in the long run.

By providing HIV testing and counseling, Fulton County schools can work toward improving educational outcomes as students' health impacts concentration, attendance, and graduation rates (Lezin et al. n.d.). A study conducted by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) on young school-aged Black and Hispanic men who have sex with men (YMSM), two populations who are disproportionately affected by HIV, found that 34.4 percent would be more likely to get tested for HIV if they could do so at or in close proximity to a school (Morris et al. 2018). Therefore, implementing HIV testing and counseling services in schools would reach at-risk students who need them most.

The most challenging aspect of implementing this proposal is finding a comprehensive way to train school clinic staff to provide testing and counseling services. In the past, the Georgia AIDS Education and Training Center worked extensively with Georgia's Department of Health to expand training for HIV testing and counseling in Fulton County through the Train-the-Trainer program (FCTFHA 2017). The results of rapid HIV tests are generally available within the time frame of a few minutes to an hour, and administering them to students is convenient as they only involve the collection of blood through a finger stick or oral fluid (DPH 2019).

NEXT STEPS

Mandating access to HIV testing and counseling in Fulton County high schools would require the addition of a county policy and collaboration between the health and education departments. By working with these departments, it will be easier to garner the attention of the Fulton County Board of Commissioners, the county's primary legislative body. In order to secure funding from HIPP, working with the Fulton County Board of Health and its coordinator, Dr. Sandra Elizabeth Ford, is necessary (Saunders 2019b). Additionally, the Fulton County Board of Education holds significant legislative power as it petitions the county's legislative delegation, enacts policies, and appropriates funds for school programs (Fulton County Schools "Fulton" n.d.). Specifically, the department for Student Health Services (SHS) develops policies related to school health procedures and oversees school-based clinics and screenings (Fulton County Schools "Student"). Reaching out to the coordinator of SHS, Mrs. Lynne Meadows, will be crucial when establishing HIV training protocols for school clinic staff. Lastly, gaining the support of parents from parent-teacher associations within high schools would assist in influencing school officials.

References

REFORMING TAX-EXEMPT STATUS OF MASSACHUSETTS PRIVATE SCHOOLS TO PROTECT TRANSGENDER STUDENTS

- American Association of University Women (AAUW). n.d. "Crossing the Line: Sexual Harassment at School." Accessed February 20, 2020. https://www.aauw.org/research/crossing-the-line/.
- EDLaw New England. 2017. "Private Schools and Transgendered Students." EDLaw New England, PLLC, October 17, 2017. https:// edlawnewengland.com/2017/10/17/private-schools-transgendered-students/.
- Grant, Jaime et al. 2011. "Injustice at Every Turn a Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey." Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality. https://www.transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/resources/NTDS Report.pdf.
- Haas, Ann P., Philip L. Rodgers, and Jody L. Herman. 2014. "Suicide Attempts among Transgender and Gender Non-Conforming Adults." Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8xg8061f.
- Lambda Legal. n.d. "How Schools Can Support Transgender Students." 2013. Accessed April 2, 2020. https://www.lambdalegal. org/know-your-rights/article/youth-tgnc-friendly-schools.
- Lavoie, Denise. 2015. "Judge Rules against Catholic School in Gay-Hiring Retraction." Associated Press, December 17, 2015. https://web.archive.org/web/20160307162058/http://bigstory.ap.org/article/e1e1905ca1774bdb827cabba30528a77/judgerules-against-catholic-school-gay-hiring-retraction.
- Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (MDESE). 2012. Email Correspondence. June 19, 2012. http://www.doe.mass.edu/bese/docs/fy2012/2012-06/item5.html.
- Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (MDESE). 2017. "Guidance for MA Public Schools Creating a Safe and Supportive School Environment - Student and Family Support." Last updated June 12, 2017. http://www.doe.mass.edu/sfs/lgbtg/GenderIdentity.html.
- National Center for Transgender Equality (NCTE). 2017. "2015 US Transgender Survey Massachusetts State Report." Washington, DC: NCTE. https://www.transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/usts/USTSMAStateReport(1017).pdf.
- National Center for Transgender Equality. n.d. "Know Your Rights." Accessed December 1, 2019. https://transequality.org/ know-vour-rights/schools.
- National Association of Independent Schools. n.d. "Supporting Transgender Students in Independent Schools." Accessed December 1, 2019. https://www.nais.org/articles/pages/supporting-transgender-students-in-independent-schools/.
- National Educational Association (NEA). 2016. "Legal Guidance On Transgender Students' Rights." Washington, DC: NEA. https://www.nea.org/assets/docs/20184_Transgender%20Guide_v4.pdf.
- United States Department of Education (DOE). 2009. "State Regulation of Private Schools." Washington, DC: DOE. https://www2.ed.gov/admins/comm/choice/regprivschl/regprivschl.pdf.
- US Transgender Survey. n.d. "USTS Reports," 2015 US Trans Survey. Accessed February 20, 2020. http://www.ustranssurvey.org/ reports.
- Williams Institute. 2017. "Media Advisory: Fact Sheet on Guidance Protecting Over 350,000 Transgender Youth and Young Adults From Discrimination - Williams Institute." Press Release, February 22, 2017. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/ research/transgender-issues/media-advisory-fact-sheet-on-guidance-protecting-over-350000-transgender-youth-andyoung-adults-from-discrimination/.



LAUNDRY MACHINES IN SCHOOLS: A TWO-PRONGED APPROACH TO IMPROVING STUDENT PERFORMANCE

- Bernhard, Blythe et al. 2018. "St. Louis-Area MAP scores by District," St. Louis Post-Dispatch. https://graphics.stltoday.com/apps/education/schools/district-map-scores/.
- Center for Mental Health in Schools. 2013. "Volunteers as Invaluable Resources." Los Angeles: UCLA. http://smhp.psych.ucla.edu/pdfdocs/practicenotes/voluntresource.pdf.
- Child Trends. 2018. "Parental Involvement in Schools," Parental Education. https://www.childtrends.org/indicators/parental-involvement-in-schools.
- Ferguson-Florissant School District. 2018. "A Resolution to Adopt Equity as the Guiding Principle." https://www.fergflor.org/Page/4086.
- Ferguson-Florissant School District. n.d. "Title I Parent Involvement Action Plan/Policy Template." https://www.fergflor.org/site/handlers/filedownload.ashx?moduleinstanceid=5279&dataid=7128&FileName=Parent%20Engagement%20Plan%20Tempate.pdf.
- Henderson, Anne T., and Karen L. Mapp. 2002. "A New Wave of Evidence: The Impact of School, Family, and Community Connections on Student Achievement." National Center for Family and Community Annual Synthesis 2002. https://www.sedl.org/connections/resources/evidence.pdf.
- Kirk, Mimi. 2016. "One Answer to School Attendance: Washing Machines." *CityLab*, August 22, 2016. https://www.citylab.com/solutions/2016/08/school-attendance-washing-machines/496649/.
- McQuiggan, Meghan, Mahi Mehra, and Sarah Grady. 2017. "Parent and Family Involvement in Education: Results from the National Household Education Surveys Program of 2016." *National Center for Education Statistics*. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017102.pdf.
- Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. 2019. "2019 Annual Performance Report." https://apps.dese.mo.gov/MCDS/Reports/SSRS_Print.aspx?Reportid=5b421746-8f31-475e-b736-ae83f1329b74.
- National Center for Education Statistics. 2020. "Enrollment Statistics." Search for Public Schools. https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/school_detail.asp?Search=1&DistrictID=2912010&SchoolPageNum=2&ID=291201000471.
- National PTA. 2000. Building Successful Partnerships: A Guide for Developing Parent and Family Involvement Programs. Bloomington, IN: National Education Service.
- National Public Radio. 2016. "The Superintendent Who Turned Around a School District." *All Things Considered*, January 3, 2016. https://www.npr.org/2016/01/03/461205086/the-superintendent-who-turned-around-a-school-district.
- Rueb, Emily S. 2019. "Schools Find a New Way to Combat Student Absences: Washing Machines." New York Times, March 13, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/13/us/schools-laundry-rooms.html?smid=fb-nytimes&smtyp=cur&fbclid=IwAR2wB-0Ua18dcV-t6Ns5SucQ4jhuCNR4QL7lMkQImMc3B8Pnh5SpGkrupuI.
- St. Louis Appliance Outlet. 2020. "Whirlpool Washer and Dryer Set." https://www.stlapplianceoutlet.com/merchant/whirlpool-washer-and-dryer-set-wtw4616fw-and-wgd4616fw?gclid=CjwKCAiAy9jyBRA6EiwAeclQhB_3p0t0BZA_qCKDuwfBSqyta6sIrg-VE8tPbiu7jrW-dLW_CuYnRoCAmoQAvD_BwE.
- St. Louis Post-Dispatch. 2019. "Jennings School District." https://graphics.stltoday.com/apps/education/schools/jennings-school-district/.
- Whirlpool. 2019. "Care Counts™ Laundry Program." Whirlpool. https://www.whirlpool.com/care-counts.html.



EVICTION REPRESENTATION: LEVELING THE LEGAL PLAYING FIELD

- Allen, Charles, Kenyan R. McDuffie, and Mary M. Cheh. 2019. "Low-Income Tenants in DC May Soon Get Legal Help." *The Washington Post*. April 7, 2019, sec. Local Opinions. https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/all-opinions-are-local/wp/2017/05/18/low-income-tenants-in-d-c-may-soon-get-legal-help/?noredirect=on.
- Capps, Kriston. 2017. "New York Passes A First-Ever Law to Help Tenants Avoid Eviction." *CityLab*, August 14, 2017. https://www.citylab.com/equity/2017/08/nyc-ensures-eviction-lawyer-for-every-tenant/536508/.
- Cilluffo, Anthony, A.W. Geiger, and Richard Fry. 2017. "More U.S. Households Are Renting than at Any Point in 50 Years." Pew Research Center, July 19, 2017. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/07/19/more-u-s-households-are-renting-than-at-any-point-in-50-years/.
- Collinson, Robert and David Reed. 2018. "The Effect of Evictions on Low-Income Households." New York, NY: NYU School of Law. https://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/upload_documents/evictions_collinson_reed.pdf.
- Crane, Maureen, and Anthony M. Warnes. 2000. "Evictions and Prolonged Homelessness." *Housing Studies* 15, no. 5: 757—773. DOI: <u>10.1080/02673030050134592</u>.
- Dana, Howard H. 2006. "Report to the House of Delegates." Chicago, IL: American Bar Association. <u>americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/administrative/legal_aid_indigent_defendants/ls_sclaid_06A112A.authcheckdam.pdf.</u>
- Desmond, Matthew. 2014. "Poor Black Women Are Evicted at Alarming Rates, Setting Off a Chain of Hardship." Chicago, IL: MacArthur Foundation. https://www.macfound.org/media/files/HHM Poor Black Women Are Evicted at Alarming Rates.pdf.
- Desmond, Matthew. 2015. "Unaffordable America: Poverty, Housing, and Eviction." Madison, WI: Institute for Research on Poverty. https://www.irp.wisc.edu/publications/fastfocus/pdfs/FF22-2015.pdf.
- Desmond, Matthew. 2016. Evicted. New York: The Crown Publishing Group.
- Ding, Lei, Jackelyn Hwang, and Eileen Divringi. 2016. "Gentrification and Residential Mobility in Philadelphia." *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, vol. 61 (November), pp. 38—51. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166046216301223?via=ihub.
- Ding, Lei, and Jackelyn Hwang. 2016. "The Consequences of Gentrification: A Focus on Residents' Financial Health in Philadelphia." *Cityscape: A Journal of Policy Development and Research*, vol. 18, no. 3 (2016): 27–56. https://www.huduser.gov/portal/periodicals/cityscpe/vol18num3/article2.html.
- Eviction Lab. n.d. "Top Evicting Large Cities in the United States" Eviction Rankings. Accessed November 30, 2019. https://evictions?r=United States&a=0&d=evictionRate&lang=en.
- Gardner, Drew. 2018. "ABC57 Investigates: South Bend Eviction Rate 3 Times the National Average." ABC57.com, October 4, 2018. Accessed November 30, 2019. https://www.abc57.com/news/abc57-investigates-south-bend-eviction-rate-3-times-the-national-average-.
- Grundman, Luke, and Muria Kruger. 2018. "Legal Representation in Evictions Comparative Study." Minneapolis, MN: Mid-Minnesota Legal Aid. https://www.minnpost.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2018-Eviction-Representation-Results-Study-with-logos.pdf.
- Indiana Code. http://iga.in.gov/legislative/laws/2018/ic/titles/001.
- Mironova, Oksana. 2019. "NYC Right to Counsel: First Year Results and Potential for Expansion." Community Service Society, March 25, 2019. CSS. https://www.cssny.org/news/entry/nyc-right-to-counsel#_ed.



- Mok, Grace. 2019. "Do Evictions Cause Income Changes? An Instrumental Variables Approach." Bachelor's thesis, Durham, North Carolina: Duke University. https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/18532/Thesis_Final.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Navarro, Mireya. 2016. "Evictions Are Down by 18%; New York City Cites Increased Legal Services." *New York Times*, March 1, 2016. https://www.nytimes.com/2016/03/01/nyregion/evictions-are-down-by-18-new-york-city-cites-increased-legal-services.html.
- Park, Sandra. 2017. "Unfair Eviction Screening Policies Are Disproportionately Blacklisting Black Women." American Civil Liberties Union, March 20, 2017. ACLU. https://www.aclu.org/blog/womens-rights/violence-against-women/unfair-eviction-screening-policies-are-disproportionately.
- Parrott, Jeff. 2018. "South Bend Mayor Focuses 2019 Budget on Neighborhoods." *South Bend Tribune*, August 2, 2018. https://www.southbendtribune.com/news/local/south-bend-mayor-focuses-budget-on-neighborhoods/article_4afcdb6e-6ab5-59e2-8b7f-914f3b49315e.html.
- Parrott, Jeff. 2019. "Tenants of Western Manor Apartments in South Bend Angry about Rent Increase." *South Bend Tribune*, August 14, 2019. https://www.southbendtribune.com/news/business/tenants-of-western-manor-apartments-in-south-bend-angry-about/article_548cb55a-6fef-581c-912c-9a941f26bb32.html.
- Sandefur, Rebecca L. 2010. "The Impact of Counsel: An Analysis of Empirical Evidence." *Seattle Journal for Social Justice* 9, no. 1 (Fall) 51—95. https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol9/iss1/3.
- Wiltz, Teresa. 2017. "How Free Legal Help Can Prevent Evictions." The Pew Charitable Trusts, October 27, 2017. https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2017/10/27/how-free-legal-help-can-prevent-evictions.

ALLEVIATING POVERTY TRAPS FOR JOB SEEKERS WITH SUBPRIME CREDIT: BANNING CREDIT CHECKS IN EMPLOYMENT DECISIONS IN NEW YORK STATE

- Clifford, Robert, and Daniel Shoag. n.d. "'No More Credit Score' Employer Credit CheckBans and Signal Substitution," 1—38.
- Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB). "Consumer Credit Reports: A Study of Medical and Non-Medical Collections." 2014. https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_reports_consumer-credit-medical-and-Non-medical-collections.pdf.
- Copeland, Roy W., and Mel Schnake. 2016. "Protected Classes, Credit Histories and Criminal Background Checks: A New Twist to Old-Fashioned Disparate Impact Cases?" *Journal of Business and Behavioral Sciences* 28 (2): 129–44.
- Corbae, Dean, and Andrew Glover. 2017. "The Costs and Benefits of Employer Credit Checks." 2017 Meeting Papers 447, Society for Economic Dynamics.
- Corbae, Dean, and Andrew Glover. 2018. "Employer Credit Checks: Poverty Traps versus Matching Efficiency." w25005. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w25005.
- Cortes, Kristle, Andrew Glover, and Murat Tasci. 2018. "The Unintended Consequences of Employer Credit Check Bans on Labor and Credit Markets." Working paper (Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland) WP 16-25R2. Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland.
- DePersio, Greg. n.d. "The Difference Between Fico vs. Experian vs. Equifax." Investopedia. Accessed December 1, 2019. https://www.investopedia.com/articles/credit-loans-mortgages/082816/fico-vs-experian-vs-equifax-their-pros-and-cons-fico-efx.asp.



- Devata, Pamela, Robert Szyba, and Stacey Blecher. 2018. "Using Credit Histories in Employment Decisions: An Overview of Divergent State & Local Requirements." Seyfarth. June 12, 2018. https://www.laborandemploymentlawcounsel.com/2018/06/using-credit-histories-in-employment-decisions-an-overview-of-divergent-state-local-requirements/.
- Federal Trade Commission (FTC). 2013. "In FTC Study, Five Percent of Consumers Had Errors on Their Credit Reports That Could Result in Less Favorable Terms for Loans." Federal Trade Commission. February 11, 2013. https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2013/02/ftc-study-five-percent-Consumers-had-errors-their-credit-reports.
- Friedberg, Leora, Richard M Hynes, and Nathaniel Pattison. 2017. "Who Benefits from Bans on Employer Credit Checks?" Departmental Working Papers 1704, Southern Methodist University, Department of Economics. https://ideas.repec.org/p/smu/ecowpa/1704.html.
- Hayes, Adam. n.d. "FICO Score Definition." Investopedia. Accessed November 30, 2019. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/ficoscore.asp.
- Langager, Chad. n.d. "How Is My Credit Score Calculated?" Investopedia. Accessed November 30, 2019. https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/05/creditscorecalculation.asp.
- Leary, Alaina. 2019. "I Used My Credit Card to Keep the Heat On. It Took Five Years to Pay It Off." Talk Poverty. February 25, 2019. https://talkpoverty.org/2019/02/25/credit-card-debt-poverty-predatory-lending/.
- Murphy, Mike. 2017. "Warren Bill Would Ban Employers from Requiring Credit Checks from Job Applicants." MarketWatch. September 14, 2017. https://www.marketwatch.com/story/warren-bill-would-ban-employers-from-requiring-credit-checks-from-job-applicants-2017-09-14.
- National Consumer Law Center (NCLC). 2016. "Past Imperfect: How Credit Scores and Other Analytics 'Bake In' and Perpetuate Past Discrimination." Racial Justice and Equal Economic Opportunity. National Consumer Law Center. https://www.nclc.org/images/pdf/credit_discrimination/Past_Imperfect050616.pdf.
- Ruetschlin, Catherine, and Dedrick Asante-Muhammad. 2013. "The Challenge of Credit Card Debt for the African American Middle Class." Demos, December, 34. https://www.demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/CreditCardDebt-Demos_NAACP_0.pdf.
- Sanders Jr., James. 2020. An Act to Amend the General Business Law, in Relation to Prohibiting the Disclosure or Use of a Person's Consumer Credit History to an Employer, Labor Organization, Employment Agency or Agent Thereof for Purposes of Employment Decisions. https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/bills/2019/S2884.
- Traub, Amy. 2014. "Discredited: How Employment Credit Checks Keep Qualified Workers Out of a Job." Washington, DC: Demos. https://www.demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/Discredited-Demos_0.pdf.
- Traub, Amy, and Steve McElwee. 2016. "Bad Credit Shouldn't Block Employment: How to Make State Bans on Employment Credit Checks More Effective." Washington, DC: Demos. https://www.demos.org/research/bad-credit-shouldnt-block-employment-how-make-state-bans-employment-credit-checks-more.
- US Congress, House, Restricting Credit Checks for Employment Decisions Act (FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT) Act of 2001, HR 3614, 116th Cong., 1st sess., introduced in House July 02, 2019.
- US News & World Report. "NY Governor Wants to Limit Pre-Employment Credit Checks." January 17, 2019. https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/new-york/articles/2019-01-17/ny-governor-wants-to-limit-pre-employment-credit-checks.
- Van Doren, Peter. "Employer Credit Checks." Regulation 41.2 (2018): 79. *Business Insights: Essentials*. Web. 2 Dec. 2019. http://bi.gale.com/essentials/article/GALE%7CA545892250?u=columbiau.
- Weaver, Andrew. 2015. "Is Credit Status a Good Signal of Productivity?" Industrial and Labor Relations Review 68 (4): 742–70.



NAME CHANGES IN IOWA: HOW TO MAKE TRANSGENDER IDENTITIES MORE FISCALLY ATTAINABLE

American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU). 2015. "Transgender People and the Law: Frequently Asked Questions." New York: ACLU. https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_pdf_file/lgbttransbrochurelaw2015electronic.pdf.

Budge, Stephanie L., Jill L. Adelson, and Kimberly A.S. Howard. 2013. "Anxiety and Depression in Transgender Individuals: The Roles of Transition Status, Loss, Social Support, and Coping." APA PsychNET. http://psycnet.apa.org.proxy.lib.uiowa.edu/fulltext/2013-04448-001.html.

Durwood, Lily, Katie A. McLaughlin, and Kristina R. Olson. 2016. "Mental Health and Self-Worth in Socially Transitioned Transgender Youth." *National Center for Biotechnology Information* 56, no.2 (February): 116—123. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5302003/.

Driskell, Kristen. 2009. "Identity Confidentiality for Women Fleeing Domestic Violence." *Hastings Women's Law Journal* 20 (January 1, 2009): 129—56. https://repository.uchastings.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1182&context=hwlj.

Grant, Jaime M., Lisa A. Mottet, Justin Tanis, Jack Harrison, Jody L. Herman, and Mara Keisling. 2011. "Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey." Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality. https://endtransdiscrimination.org/PDFs/NTDS_Exec_Summary.pdf.

Iowa Code. § 602.8105-602.8106 (2020)

Iowa Code. § 674.1-674.14 (2020)

Movement Advancement Project (MAP). 2019. "Where We Call Home: Transgender People in Rural America." Boulder, CO: MAP. https://www.lgbtmap.org/file/Rural-Trans-Report-Nov2019.pdf.

National Center for Transgender Equality. 2015. "2015 US Transgender Survey: Iowa State Report." Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality. https://www.transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/usts/USTSIAStateReport%281017%29.pdf.

Sandler, Len, George Fitting, Derek Tran, Bradyn Fairclough, Jeff Brunelle, Tom Wisniewski, and Clinical Law Students. 2016. "Where Do I Fit In? A Snapshot of Transgender Discrimination in Iowa." Iowa City, IA: The University of Iowa College of Law. https://law.uiowa.edu/sites/law.uiowa.edu/files/Where%20Do%20I%20Fit%20In%20—%20A%20Snapshot%20of%20Transgender%20Discrimination%20June%202016%20Public%20Release.pdf.

Sandler, Len, Joshua Weiner, Brittany Bermudez, Erin Fleck, Hilary Moise, Merissa Fussell, Katherine Otto, Meredith Ashley, Kathleen Tunink, Joshua Clapp, Lindsey Danielson, Brian Talcott, Eric Bigley, and Clinical Law Students. 2019. "The Iowa Guide to Changing Legal Identity Documents." Iowa City, IA: The University of Iowa College of Law. https://uiowa.edu.ui-trans-resources/files/iowa_guide_to_changing_legal_identity_documents_january_2019.pdf.

BACKING ASYLUM SEEKERS: EXPANDING DOJ ACCREDITATION AT NORTH TEXAS LAW INSTITUTIONS

Del Real, Jose A., and Manny Fernandez. 2019. "As Government Pulls Back, Charities Step In to Help Released Migrants." *New York Times*, January 14, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/14/us/illegal-immigrants-border-shelters-charities.html.



- Garrett, Robert T., and Dianne Solis. 2020. "Texas' Inn for Refugees Is Full, Gov. Greg Abbott Says, Declining to Admit Any More." Dallas Morning News, January 10, 2020. https://www.dallasnews.com/news/politics/2020/01/10/texas-inn-for-refugees-isfull-gov-greg-abbott-says-declining-to-admit-any-more/.
- Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952, 8 U.S. Code (2006): §1158.
- "Interim Final Rule." Code of Federal Regulations. Title 49 (2002). https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/49/106.35.
- Kerwin, Donald. 2011. "US Refugee Protection Policy Ten Years after 9/11" in The 9/11 Effect and Its Legacy on US Immigration Laws: Essays, Remarks, and Photographs. Book 9. Penn State Law Immigrants' Rights Clinic and Penn State School of International Affairs. September 16, 2011. Accessed November 29, 2019. https://pennstatelaw.psu.edu/_file/ Immigrants/9 11 Effect Online Publication.pdf.
- Mossaad, Nadwa. 2019. "Annual Flow Report: Refugees and Asylees: 2017." Washington, DC: United States Department of Homeland Security (DHS). https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/Refugees_Asylees_2017.pdf.
- "Representation and Appearances." Code of Federal Regulations. Title 8 (2009), https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c1727e 98a9a2e76e2b419d8a15fec36d&mc=true&node=pt8.1.1292&rgn=div5#se8.1.1292_11.
- Roig-Franzia, Manuel. 2019. "Migrants Risk It All Seeking Asylum. The Answer in Court Is Almost Always 'No." Washington Post, July 24, 2019. https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/migrants-risk-it-all-seeking-asylum-the-answer-in-courtis-almost-always-no/2019/07/23/9c161b2e-a3f7-11e9-b732-41a79c2551bf_story.html.
- Solis, Dianne. 2020. "Deportation Defense Fund for Immigrants Is about to Launch in the City of Dallas." Dallas Morning News, February 12, 2020. https://www.dallasnews.com/news/2020/02/12/deportation-defense-fund-for-immigrants-is-about-tolaunch-in-the-city-of-dallas/.
- Transitional Records Access Clearinghouse (TRAC). 2017. "Asylum Representation Rates Have Fallen Amid Rising Denial Rates." Syracuse, NY: TRAC. November 28, 2017. https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/491/.
- Transitional Records Access Clearinghouse (TRAC). 2018. "Asylum Decisions and Denials Jump in 2018." Syracuse, NY: TRAC. https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/539/.
- Transitional Records Access Clearinghouse (TRAC). 2018. "Judge-by-Judge Asylum Decisions in Immigration Courts FY 2013— 2018." Syracuse, NY: TRAC. Accessed November 29, 2019. https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/judge2018/denialrates. html.
- Trovall, Elizabeth. 2019. "What Are the Chances of Getting Asylum? A Lot Better in New York than Houston." Houston Public Media, August 2, 2018. https://www.houstonpublicmedia.org/articles/news/in-depth/2018/08/02/298321/what-are-thechances-of-getting-asylum-a-lot-better-in-new-york-than-houston/.
- United States Department of Homeland Security (DHS). 2019. "Migrant Protection Protocols." Press release, January 24, 2019. https://www.dhs.gov/news/2019/01/24/migrant-protection-protocols.
- United States Department of Justice (DOJ). 2018. "Statistics Yearbook." Falls Church, VA: DOJ Executive Office for Immigration Review (EOIR). https://www.justice.gov/eoir/file/1198896/download.
- United States Department of Justice (DOJ). 2019. "Recognized Organizations and Accredited Representatives Roster by State and City." Falls Church, VA: DOJ Executive Office for Immigration Review (EOIR). https://www.justice.gov/eoir/recognizedorganizations-and-accredited-representatives-roster-state-and-city.



UGACOUNTS: ACCURATELY ENUMERATING THE UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA STUDENT POPULATION FOR THE 2020 CENSUS

- America Counts Staff. 2020. "In Student Housing, off Campus or with Parents, College Students Count in 2020 Census." Washington, DC: US Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/01/student-housing-off-campus-with-parents-college-students-count-2020-census.html.
- Athens Clarke County. n.d. "Demographics: Athens-Clarke County, GA Official Website." Accessed December 1, 2019. https://www.athensclarkecounty.com/105/Demographics.
- Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (CBPP). 2018. "Underfunding the 2020 Census Would Likely Harm a Diverse Range of Communities, Including Many in Rural America." Washington, DC: CBPP. https://www.cbpp.org/blog/underfunding-the-2020-census-would-likely-harm-a-diverse-range-of-communities-including-many-in.
- Cline, Katherine. 2016. "Athens' Homeless Rates Drop, but Root Causes Remain." *Digital Storytelling*, December 7, 2016. http://digitalstorytelling.uga.edu/2016/12/07/athens-homeless-rates-drop-but-root-causes-remain/.
- Cohn, D'Vera. 2014. "College Students Count in the Census, but Where?" Washington, DC: Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project. February 6, 2014. https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2010/03/15/college-students-count-in-the-census-but-where/.
- Johnson, Tim. Co-chair of the Athens-Clarke County Complete Count Committee. Interviewed by Christopher Rosselot, Athens, Georgia, November 2019. Interview.
- Morris, Aura. 2019. Partnership Specialist, US Census Bureau. Interviewed by Christopher Rosselot, Athens, Georgia, November 2019. Interview.
- Pew Research Center. 2010. "Young People Make Up Large Proportion of Census Hold-Outs." Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/2010/03/24/young-people-make-up-large-proportion-of-census-holdouts/.
- United States Census Bureau. 2018. "County Poverty Rate for the United States: 2013—2017." Washington, DC: US Census Bureau. December 4, 2018. https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/2018/comm/acs-5yr-poverty-all-counties.html.
- United States Census Bureau. 2019. "The 2020 Census at a Glance." December 31, 2019. https://www.census.gov/library/fact-sheets/2019/dec/2020-at-a-glance.html.
- United States Census Bureau. n.d. "2020 Census Complete Count Committee Guide." Washington, DC: US Census Bureau. Accessed February 26, 2020. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/newsroom/press-kits/2018/ccc-guide-d-1280.pdf.
- United States Census Bureau. n.d. "Impact in Your Community." n.d. Washington, DC: United States Census 2020. Accessed February 26, 2020. https://2020census.gov/en/community-impact.html.
- United States Census Bureau. n.d. "US Census Bureau QuickFacts: Athens-Clarke County (Balance), Georgia." Accessed December 3, 2019. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/athensclarkecountybalancegeorgia.
- US Census in Georgia. n.d. "Federal Aid." US Census in Georgia. Accessed December 2, 2019. https://census.georgia.gov/census-101/federal-aid.
- US Census in Georgia. n.d. "Knowledge for Planning." Atlanta, GA: US Census in Georgia. Accessed December 2, 2019. https://census.georgia.gov/census-101/knowledge-planning.
- *U.S. News & World Report*. n.d. "How Does University of Georgia Rank among America's Best Colleges?" Accessed December 3, 2019. https://www.usnews.com/best-colleges/university-of-georgia-1598.



MWIND: RENEWING RURAL MICHIGAN COMMUNITIES' ECONOMIC FUTURE THROUGH WIND FARM DEVELOPMENT

- Abdel-Baqui, Omar. n.d. "Pollution and Southwest Detroit." *Detroit Journalism Cooperative*. Accessed November 29, 2019. https://www.detroitjournalism.org/2018/02/09/pollution-southwest-detroit/.
- Barrett, Malachi. 2019. "Michigan Farmers Brace for New Chinese Tariffs as Trade War Rolls On." *MLive*, August 28, 2019. https://www.mlive.com/public-interest/2019/08/michigan-farmers-brace-for-new-chinese-tariffs-as-trade-war-rolls-on.html.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). n.d. "Local Unemployment Statistics Map." United States Department of Labor. Accessed October 20, 2019. https://data.bls.gov/lausmap/showMap.jsp;jsessionid=C89A11256BC4C65483C6C484F60EBA0C._t3_08v.
- Council of Michigan Foundations (CMF). 2016. "MI Farmers Facing Serious Issues." Published September 22, 2016. https://www.michiganfoundations.org/news/mi-farmers-facing-serious-issues.
- Dvorak, Paul. 2016. "How Many Jobs Do Wind Farms Create?" Windpower Engineering and Development, April 12, 2016. https://www.windpowerengineering.com/many-jobs-wind-farms-create/.
- Graham, Lester. 2018. "Wind Generation Picking Up in Michigan Despite Some Local Opposition." *Michigan Radio*, July 19, 2018. https://www.michiganradio.org/post/wind-generation-picking-michigan-despite-some-local-opposition.
- Keene, Steve. 2019. "Number of Michigan Farms Continue to Decline." *WCMU Public Radio*, May 21, 2019. https://radio.wcmu.org/post/number-michigan-farms-continue-decline#stream/0.
- Knudson, William. 2018. "The Economic Impact of Michigan's Food and Agricultural System." Working paper 01-0518. East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University Product Center. https://www.canr.msu.edu/miim/uploads/kundson_william_economic_impact_food-ag_system_201807.pdf.
- Michigan Tech Research Institute (MTRI). n.d. "Linking Remote Sensing and Process-Based Models to Assess Land Use and Climate Change Impacts on Plant Invasion in Great Lakes Coastal Wetlands." Accessed December 1, 2017. https://mtri.org/nasa_greatlakes.html.
- Mills, Sarah. 2015. "Farming the Wind: The Impact of Wind Energy on Farming." Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/564236bce4b00b392cc6131d/t/575b315d9f7266050a4143aa/1465594217864/Sarah+Mills+Summary+Findings.pdf.
- Modern Agriculture. 2017. "Farming the Sky: How Farmers and the Environment Benefit from Wind Power." Energy Conservation. Last updated February 3, 2017. https://www.modernag.org/energy-conservation/farming-the-sky/.
- National Conference of State Legislatures. 2019. "National Employment Monthly Update." Last updated April 3, 2020. http://www.ncsl.org/research/labor-and-employment/national-employment-monthly-update.aspx.
- Nordman, Erik. 2013. "Wind Power and Air Quality: Reducing Air Pollution and Carbon Emissions in Michigan." Allendale, MI: West Michigan Wind Assessment. https://www.michiganseagrant.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Wind-Brief-7-Air-Quality.pdf.
- Shaffer, Catherine, and Michigan Radio Newsroom. 2017. "Detroit Air Pollution Disproportionately Affects African-American Children." *Michigan Radio*, November 17, 2017. https://www.michiganradio.org/post/detroit-air-pollution-disproportionately-affects-african-american-children.
- University of Michigan School of Public Health (U-M). n.d. "Research Partnership between University of Michigan and Community-Based Organizations Releases Plan for Improving Air Quality and Health in Detroit." Releases. Accessed November 25, 2019. https://sph.umich.edu/news/home-releases/caphe-060117.html.



- *U.S. News & World Report.* n.d. "Highest Paying Jobs without a Degree." Accessed November 25, 2019. https://money.usnews.com/careers/best-jobs/rankings/highest-paying-jobs-without-a-degree.
- WINDExchange Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. n.d. "Michigan 80-Meter Wind Resource Map." Accessed November 25, 2019. https://windexchange.energy.gov/maps-data/60.

LIGHTING THE FUTURE: IMPLEMENTING ROOFTOP SOLAR PANELS IN UNC DORM RENOVATIONS

- Devlin, Leah, Mikey Goralnik, William G. Ross, and Kimberly Thigpen Tart. 2014. "Climate Change and Public Health in North Carolina: A Unique State Offers a Unique Perspective." *Environmental Health Perspectives* 122, no. 6. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408542.
- Gearino, Dan. 2018. "How Solar Panels on a Church Rooftop Broke the Law in NC" *Inside Climate News*, May 14, 2018. https://insideclimatenews.org/news/14052018/north-carolina-rooftop-solar-panel-laws-duke-utility-monopoly-court-ruling-church-clean-energy.
- Goldfarb, Ben. 2016. "On College Campuses, Signs of Progress on Renewable Energy." *YaleEnvironment360*, October 27, 2016. https://e360.yale.edu/features/on_college_campuses_progress_on_renewable_energy.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2018. "Summary for Policymakers of IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C Approved by Governments." Incheon, Republic of Korea: IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/2018/10/08/summary-for-policymakers-of-ipcc-special-report-on-global-warming-of-1-5c-approved-by-governments/.
- Kupatt, Erika, Ben Scandella, and Charlie Waters. 2008. "An Evaluation of UNC Student Energy Use: Recommendations to Reduce the University's Carbon Emissions." Undergraduate Capstone, Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill. https://ie.unc.edu/files/2016/03/student_energy_final_report.pdf.
- Needham, Nick. 2019. "Inside UNC's Long-Term Plan to Reinvent Campus, the 'Master Plan." *Daily Tar Heel*, July 17, 2019. https://www.dailytarheel.com/article/2019/07/master-plan-changes-to-carolina.
- New York City Office of Long-Term Planning and Sustainability (NYC). 2014. "One City: Built to Last." New York: Office of the Mayor. Accessed February 19, 2020. http://www.nyc.gov/html/builttolast/assets/downloads/pdf/OneCity.pdf.
- Renewable Energy Special Projects Committee. 2005. "2005 Solar Thermal Collectors at Morrison Residence Hall." Accessed December 1, 2019. http://respc.web.unc.edu/solar-thermal-collectors-on-morrison-dormitory/.
- Tang, Zhenghong, Samuel D. Brody, Courtney Quinn, Liang Chang, and Ting Wei. "Moving from Agenda to Action: Evaluating Local Climate Change Action Plans." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 53, no. 1 (2010): 41—62. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640560903399772.
- UNC Three Zeros. n.d. "2018 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report." Accessed December 1, 2019. https://threezeros.unc.edu/files/2019/10/greenhouse-gas-report-2018.pdf.
- UNC Cashier. n.d. "Student Fees." Accessed December 1, 2019. https://cashier.unc.edu/tuition-fees/student-fees/.
- University of California, Berkeley, Sustainability and Carbon Solutions (Berkeley). n.d. "About CalCAP." Accessed February 22, 2020. https://sustainability.berkeley.edu/carbon-neutrality/about-calcap.

MANDATING ACCESS TO HIV TESTING AND COUNSELING IN FULTON COUNTY HIGH SCHOOLS

- Cardwell-Alston, Alicia. 2018. "Fulton County PrEP Clinic 'on the Right Track." Atlanta, GA: Georgia Department of Public Health. https://web.archive.org/web/20190312054247/https://dph.georgia.gov/blog/2018-07-17/fulton-county-prep-clinic-%E2%80%98-right-track%E2%80%99.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2018. "Minors' Consent Laws for HIV and STD Services." Atlanta, GA: CDC. Last reviewed November 30, 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/policies/law/states/minors.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019a. "HIV Among Youth." Atlanta, GA: CDC. Last reviewed November 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/age/youth/index.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019b. "HIV Cost-Effectiveness." Atlanta, GA: CDC. Last reviewed October 31, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/programresources/guidance/costeffectiveness/index.html.
- Fulton County Board of Health. n.d. "High Impact Prevention Program." Accessed November 26, 2019. http://fultoncountyboh. org/boh/index.php/service-s/clinical-services/disease-prevention/hiv-information/high-impact-prevention-program.
- Fulton County Board of Health. n.d. "Ryan White Program." Accessed November 26, 2019. http://fultoncountyboh.org/boh/ index.php/service-s/clinical-services/disease-prevention/hiv-information/ryan-white-program.
- Fulton County Board of Health. n.d. "Vision, Mission, and Core Values." Accessed November 26, 2019. http://fultoncountyboh. org/boh/index.php/about-boh.
- Fulton County Government. n.d. "Facts about HIV in Fulton County." Accessed November 25, 2019. https://www. fultoncountyga.gov/inside-fulton-county/fulton-county-initiatives/end-aids-by-2030/facts-about-hiv-in-fulton-county.
- Fulton County Schools. n.d. "Fulton County Board of Education." Accessed November 26, 2019. https://www.fultonschools.org/ board.
- Fulton County Schools. n.d. "Student Health Services." Accessed November 25, 2019. https://www.fultonschools.org/ studenthealthservices.
- Fulton County Task Force on HIV/AIDS (FCTFHA). 2017. "Building the Strategy to End AIDS in Fulton County: Progress and Priorities." Fulton County, GA: FCTFHA. https://www.gacapus.com/r/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Phase-III-Report-2017-0731-FCTFHA-Strategy-to-End-AIDS.pdf.
- Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH). 2017. "HIV Surveillance Fact Sheet." Atlanta, GA: DPH. https://dph.georgia.gov/ sites/dph.georgia.gov/files/HIV_EPI_2017_Fact_Sheet_20190128.pdf.
- Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH). 2017. "HIV Surveillance Survey, Georgia, 2017." Atlanta, GA: DPH. https://dph. georgia.gov/sites/dph.georgia.gov/files/HIV_EPI_2017_Surveillance_Summary_20190128.pdf.
- Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH). n.d. "Adolescent HIV In Metro Atlanta: Updates & Opportunities." Accessed November 26, 2019. https://dph.georgia.gov > files > Em_Nat_IC_MATLC Adolescent Update.
- Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH). n.d. "Rapid HIV Testing Protocols and Quality Control." Atlanta, GA: DPH. https:// dph.georgia.gov/sites/dph.georgia.gov/files/RapidHIVTesting.TrainingManual.FINAL.Laser.pdf.
- Kass, Arielle. 2016. "HIV Task Force Asks More HIV Testing in Fulton, Needle Exchange." The Atlanta Journal-Constitution, August 13, 2016. https://www.ajc.com/news/local-govt-politics/hiv-task-force-asks-more-hiv-testing-fulton-needle-exchange/ ZIbEkCDRT0MAEh9mxYHw4I/.



- Lezin, Nicole, Stephanie Witt, Julie Taylor, and Michelle Bliesner. *A Resource Guide for Schools*. Scotts Valley, CA: ETR Associates. http://recapp.etr.org/recapp/documents/programs/PATHS.pdf.
- Morris, Elana, Pablo Topete, Catherine N. Rasberry, Catherine A. Lesesne, Elizabeth Kroupa, and Lisa Carver. 2018. "School-Based HIV/STD Testing Behaviors and Motivations among Black and Hispanic Teen MSM: Results from a Formative Evaluation." Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5921839/.
- Saunders, Patrick. 2019a. "Fulton Restructures HIV Program to End Epidemic by 2030." *Project Q Atlanta*, July 24, 2019. https://www.projectq.us/atlanta/fulton_restructures_hiv_program_to_end_epidemic_by_2030?gid=20007.
- Saunders, Patrick. 2019b. "Fulton Approves \$670,000 to Fight HIV, Boost PrEP." *Project Q Atlanta*, February 01, 2019. https://www.projectg.us/atlanta/Fulton_approves_670000_to_fight_HIV_boost_PrEP_efforts?gid=19546.
- Walensky, Rochelle P. 2019. "PrEP School: A Field Manual for the Battle over HIV Prevention Drug Pricing." *Health Affairs*, August 29, 2019. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20190826.11005/full/.



ROOSEVELTINSTITUTE.ORG